
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

November 7, 2023 9:00 am 
pppp.M. 

 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jonathan McCollar 

 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilmember Phil Boyum  

 

3. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 

 

4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 10-17-2023 Work Session Minutes 

b) 10-17-2023 Council Minutes 

c) 10-17-2023 Executive Session Minutes 

B) Consideration of a motion to approve the surplus of fifty-one (51) Statesboro Police 

Department owned firearms and related equipment.  

 

5. Public Hearing regarding the proposed name change of Brown Street to Loretta’s Way.  

 

6. Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinance 2023-17: An Ordinance amending 

Chapter 6 Section 6-5(f) and (r) of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances to allow for 

consideration of application prior to having a certificate of occupancy and waiving 

background requirements for certain applicants.  

 

7. Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinance 2023-18: An Ordinance amending 

Chapter 82 Article IV of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances creating a sewer lateral 

assistance program.  

 

8. Public Hearing and First Reading of Ordinance 2023-19: An Ordinance amending 

Chapter 66 Solid Waste, Article V Collection Practices of the Statesboro Code of 

Ordinances in order to amend the text in Section 66-91 (c) (1). 

 

9. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve application for an alcohol 

license in accordance with the City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a): 

 

El Maugey II Mexican Restaurant 

110 Brampton Ave. Ste E 

Statesboro, Ga 30458 

 

10. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution 2023-45: A Resolution adopting the 

second amendment to the City of Statesboro Schedule of Fees, Rates, and Fines for Fiscal 

Year 2024. 

 

 



 

 

11. Consideration of a motion to approve an amendment to the MOU with Action Pact Inc. to 

administer disbursement of utility assistance aid.  

 

12. Consideration of a motion to award a one year contract extension to Assured Partners for 

insurance brokerage services and policy coverage with Travelers (General Liability), 

Bitco (Workers Compensation), VFIS (Fire Equipment and Buildings), BCS (Cyber 

Insurance) and Global (Drone Insurance) for 2024 with the term beginning January 1, 

2024 and ending December 31, 2024. 

 

13. Consideration of a motion to award a one year contract extension to NFP for health 

brokerage services and policy coverage with Anthem for 2024 with the term beginning 

January 1, 2024 and ending December 31, 2024. 

 

14. Consideration of a motion to award the contract to Solid Waste Applied Technology 

(SWAT) for the purchase of a New Way Automated Residential Side Arm Refuse 

Collection body with a Peterbilt 520 CNG Cab and Chassis per Sourcewell contract in the 

amount of $449,000.00. 

 

15. Other Business from City Council 

 

16.  City Managers Comments 

 

17. Public Comments (General) 

 

18. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 

“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b) 

 

19. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
WORK SESSION MINUTES 

OCTOBER 17, 2023 
 
Mayor & Council Work Session                    50 East Main Street                                                         3:30 PM 
 
 
A Work Session of the Statesboro City Council was held on October 17, 2023 at 3:30 p.m. in the Council Chambers 
at City Hall, 50 East Main Street. Present was Mayor Jonathan McCollar; Council Members: Paulette Chavers, 
Venus Mack and Shari Barr. Also present was City Clerk Leah Harden, City Attorney Cain Smith, City Manager 
Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles and Public Information Officer Layne Phillips. Absent was 
Councilmembers John Riggs and Phil Boyum. 
 
 

1. Personal Mobility Ordinance 
Caleb Rasicot with TSW presented a follow up on the discussion at the last meeting on personal mobility devices. 
There are two types of regulations, shared mobility devices such as lime and general operations. Regulating these 
devices in two separate ways. The first way is applying a series of standards that apply to every device regardless 
of who owns it. The second is consolidating the standards related to a company coming in and requesting to use 
public right of ways to lease and rent scooters, separating the operations from the ownership. Caleb’s presented the 
operational proposal to make several changes to chapter 48 of the city code that regulates all the various types of 
non-motorized devices. First amending part of the code 78-9 roller skates and skateboards renaming it non-
motorized devices, clarifying that it includes razor scooters and skateboards. Prohibiting these devices on any public 
street, only operate on sidewalks, and allowing mayor and council to prohibit them from certain parts of the city. 
Caleb also recommends adopting by reference all the state of Georgia’s requirements for bicycles. Also to set very 
clear standards for the operations of electronic scooters in the City of Statesboro. Allow them on roadways with a 
speed limit of 35mph or less, allow on bicycle lanes, trails, and only on sidewalks when the adjacent roadway speed 
is over 35mph and the sidewalk is wide open 5 ft. because of the American Disability Act they cannot recommend 
anything lower than that. Along with recommending max speed of 15mph, minimum age 15, under 16 years of age 
you have to wear a helmet. It is recommended that chapter 70 is amended by adding the additional standards. City 
Manager Charles Penny recommends having sessions with the public and having their input, and bring back to 
another work session after hearing feedback from the public.             
 
 

2. Alcohol License for Convenience Stores 
City attorney Cain Smith presented the recommended amendment to 6-5(f) adding language to read application 
may be brought before mayor and council for consideration prior to acquiring a certificate of occupancy, but no 
license allowing sales shall be granted until such times as the certificate of occupancy is granted. Then add sect 6-
5(r) licensees with multiple locations, licensees currently holding a package beer-wine licenses for two or more 
locations in the City of Statesboro shall be exempt from fingerprinting and background check requirements. City 
Attorney Cain Smith recommends both the addition to 6-5(f) and 6-5(r) to brought back for first reading at the next 
council meeting. Councilmember Venus Mack would like to have a time limit placed, a lot could happen in time, 
they could commit a crime in another state and we wouldn’t know. Councilmember Shari Barr asked if you could 
background check without the fingerprinting. City Attorney Cain Smith stated background only goes with 
fingerprinting and the state does not do background checks on beer and wine. After further discussion direction was 
given to further amend the ordinance by adding if the licensee has been through the full application in the past 3 
years and has 2 more locations they would be exempt and the place on the next November 7th regular meeting 
agenda for 1st reading. 



3. Sewer Laterals 
Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles stated the sewer lateral is the sewer line that runs from a house or structure 
to the city sewer main, sometimes the sewer main is in the right of way, in the roadway, under the roadway, across 
from your house, or in an easement outside of a public right of way. Currently the city’s policy is the sewer lateral 
is the property owner’s responsibility and not the city’s. Staff recommends the city enact a sewer replacement 
assistance program for owner-occupied single-family home owners to mitigate the costly repair of the sewer lateral 
located within the public right of way of public utility easement. One way to enact the assistance program would 
be the unit price of impacted public improved surfaces and another would be based on depth. Our recommendation 
would be $50/sf and $50/lf. Will move forward with staff recommendation of an assistance program for owner 
occupied single family homes to mitigate the costly repair of a sewer lateral located within the public right of way 
or public utility easement.  
 

4. Police Recruitment  
City Police Chief Broadhead presented to Mayor and Council a graph showing staffing issues over the past 4 years, 
where employees are going, a snapshot of applicants hiring process in 2023, and stating that in exit interviews 
employees feel overworked and underpaid. Chief Broadhead went over the different ways they have been trying to 
recruit, as well as the incentives. Chief Broadhead is proposing $2,500 signing bonus for non-certified, $5,000 
signing bonus for 3-5 years’ experience and $10,000 signing bonus for more than 5 years’ experience, moving the 
entry level pay up to $50,000. Retention would consist of pay raises commensurate with recommendations from 
Condrey and Associates, maintain ongoing training, maintain state certification, 5% pay for K-9 handler and 
S.W.A.T., with Condrey and Associates pay adjustments implemented by January 1st 2024.    
 

5. Personnel Benefits 
Human Resources Director Demetrius Bynes spoke to Mayor and Council about the upcoming 2024 employee 
benefits. Demetrius presented a graph showing employees by age and stated that claim rates start going up at the 
40-49 age group, as well as showing in 2023 there has been less claims than in 2022 both in net and total claims. 
The proposed plan is for bi-weekly payroll premiums to remain the same for CY 2024; however, the out of pocket 
maximum and emergency room copays/coinsurance will increase. The emergency room visit will go from from 
$100 to $300 + 20% coinsurance with the gold plan and from $100 to $150 +20% coinsurance on the platinum 
plan. The wellness incentives include the biometric screening, annual physical and coaching- 2 or more risk factors 
get 2 coaching sessions and 4 or more risk factors will have 4 coaching sessions. 

 
6. Development Projects for Statesboro 

Planning director Kathy Fields presented the Mayor and Council with the breakdown of all the new development 
that was approved with in the last couple of years. Approved developments include 377 single-family detached, 
223 single-family attached, 914 townhomes, 517 multi-family, totaling 2031 new units. This number does not 
include smaller developments of less than 20. There are 216 multi-family units on Lovett Road, 90 townhome units 
on Westside Road, and 90 single-family detached units on Stockyard Road that are awaiting approval . Upcoming 
projects consist of 335 single-family and townhome units on Burkhalter Road, and 102 townhouse units on 
Langston Chapel Road.  

 
The meeting was adjourned at 5:23 pm. 
 

 
_________________________________ 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
 
 

_________________________________ 
Leah Harden, City Clerk 

 



 
 
  
 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
COUNCIL MINUTES 
OCTOBER 17, 2023 

1 
 

 
Regular Meeting                         50 E. Main St. City Hall Council Chambers                                      5:30 PM 
 

1. Call to Order 
Mayor Jonathan McCollar called the meeting to order  

 
2. Invocation and Pledge 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr gave the Invocation and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
ATTENDENCE  

Attendee Name Title Status Arrived 
Jonathan McCollar Mayor Present   
Phil Boyum Councilmember Absent    
Paulette Chavers Councilmember Present  
Venus Mack Councilmember Present  
John Riggs Councilmember Absent   
Shari Barr Mayor Pro Tem  Present  

 
Other staff present: City Manager Charles Penny, Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles, Public Information Officer 
Layne Phillips, City Attorney Cain Smith and City Clerk Leah Harden 

 
3. Recognitions/Public Presentations: 

 
A) Presentation of the Medal of Valor to Sergeant Nathaniel Janney and Officer Logan Gay  
B) Presentation of a Meritorious Service Award to Captain Jared Akins, Corporal Jessica 

Collins, APO Joey DeLoach, Officer Damien Truesdale and Communications Officer 
Sydney Johns. 

Statesboro Police Chief Mike Broadhead explained that on the morning of September 23, 2023 officers were dispatched 
to the area of Johnson Street and Spruce Street for a shooting in progress with multiple shots still being fired upon arrival. 
Two of the responding officers successfully took an armed subject into custody. Chief Broadhead continued that 
members of the Statesboro Police Department were confronted with a dangerous chaotic scene and in a short time were 
able to restore order and secure multiple crime scenes. He presented Meritorious Service awards to Officer Damien 
Truesdale and Communications Officer Sydney Johns and recognized Captain Jared Akins, Corporal Jessica Collins and 
APO Joey Deloach also recipients of the Meritorious Service award for their professional meritorious service to the 
community. In addition Chief Broadhead presented the Medal of Valor to Sergeant Nathaniel Janney and Officer Logan 
Gay for the arrest of one armed suspect. 
 

C) Presentation of the Medal of Valor to Officer Jonathan Treloar. 
Statesboro Police Chief Mike Broadhead presented to Officer Jonathan Treloar the Medal of Valor, stating that back on 
May 5, 2023 Officer Jonathan Treloar responded to the area of Morris Heights apartments on a report of a juvenile with 
a firearm. Officer Treloar was able to take the suspect into custody and retrieve the pistol. The situation was tense and 
rapidly evolving and Officer Teloar displayed conspicuous valor at the risk of his own life.  
 



2 
 

D) Presentation of a Proclamation to Safe Haven recognizing October 2023 as Domestic 
Violence Awareness month. 

Mayor Jonathan McCollar read and presented a Proclamation to Kim Billings with Safe Haven, recognizing October 
2023 as Domestic Violence Awareness Month.  
 

4. Public Comments (Agenda Item):  None 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 
A) Approval of Minutes 

a) 10-03-2023 Council Minutes 
b) 10-03-2023 Executive Session Minutes 

 
A motion was made to approve the consent agenda.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

6. Public Hearing and Consideration of a motion to approve: 
 
A) APPLICATION AN 23-08-07: S&K Investments LLC requests Annexation of 2.27 acres 

of property located at 3101 Old Register Road in order to build a commercial development. 
B) APPLICATION RZ 23-08-08: S&K Investments LLC requests a Zoning Map Amendment 

from the R-40 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district to the MX (Mixed Use) zoning 
district on 2.27 acres of property located at 3101 Old Register Road in order to build a 
commercial development. 
 

A Motion was made to open the public hearing.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
John Dotson with Maxwell Reddick & Associates spoke in favor of the request. No one spoke against the request.  
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 



 

3 
 

A motion was made to close the public hearing.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
A motion was made to approve APPLICATION AN 23-08-07: S&K Investments LLC requests Annexation of 2.27 
acres of property located at 3101 Old Register Road in order to build a commercial development and APPLICATION 
RZ 23-08-08: S&K Investments LLC requests a Zoning Map Amendment from the R-40 (Single-Family Residential) 
zoning district to the MX (Mixed Use) zoning district on 2.27 acres of property located at 3101 Old Register Road in 
order to build a commercial development.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

7. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION RZ 23-09-01: 
Nellie Meeks request a Zoning Map Amendment from the R-15 (Single-Family Residential) to 
the MX (Mixed Use) zoning district in order to reuse a property as office space at 26 Lindberg 
Street. 
 

A motion was made to open the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Nellie Meeks the property owner spoke in favor of the request.  
No one spoke against the request. 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Venus Mack  

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 



4 
 

A motion was made to close the public hearing.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
A motion was made to approve APPLICATION RZ 23-09-01: A Zoning Map Amendment from the R-15 (Single-
Family Residential) to the MX (Mixed Use) zoning district in order to reuse a property as office space at 26 Lindberg 
Street.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

8. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION RZ 23-09-02: 
Hillpointe, LLC requests a Zoning Map Amendment from the CR/PUD (Commercial 
Retail/Planned Unit Development) zoning districts to the MX (Mixed Use) zoning district in 
order to develop a commercial multi-family residential development on 18.56 acres located on 
Lovett Road. 
 

A motion was made to open the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
Marcus Wiedower representing Hillpointe LLC, spoke in favor of the request. 
 
No one spoke against the request.  
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 



 

5 
 

A motion was made to close the public hearing.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
A motion was made to approve APPLICATION RZ 23-09-02: A Zoning Map Amendment from the CR/PUD 
(Commercial Retail/Planned Unit Development) zoning districts to the MX (Mixed Use) zoning district in order to 
develop a commercial multi-family residential development on 18.56 acres located on Lovett Road.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 

9. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve: APPLICATION SUB 23-09-03: 
Tim Stone requests Preliminary Subdivision PLAT approval on approximately 11.54 acres of 
property in order to develop a townhouse subdivision of approximately 93 units on Westside 
Road. 
 

A motion was made to open the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

Evan Bennett with Hussey Gay Bell and on behalf of the property owner spoke in favor of the request.  
 
Lauretha Best a resident of Quail Run subdivision along with a neighbor Julius Tremble voiced their concerns regarding 
the proposed neighborhood using Timber Road as an access point and causing disruption in their neighborhood with the 
increased traffic.  Ms. Best also stated that no sign was placed at the Quail Run entrance for the October 3rd Planning 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 



6 
 

Commission Meeting so they missed that meeting. She stated they are fine with the single family homes but would like 
a buffer or something in place to separate their neighborhood from the new development.  
 
Mayor McCollar asked staff for some insight regarding these concerns. 
 
Director of Planning and Development Kathy Field stated their concerns are more pointed to agenda item 10 which is a 
townhome subdivision. This development was originally going to be townhomes but after working with the developer 
is was changed to an R-6 development with single family homes. There are three roads that will be utilized for that R-6 
development. These two subdivision plats are separate developments which is why the connector road is important as it 
provides a third means if egress and involves Stockyard Road, Timber Road, and Westside Road.  
  
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.  
    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 

 
 
City Manager Charles Penny explained that this townhome development is not connecting into a single family 
development and asked Kathy to provide clarity on the issue.  
 
Kathy Field stated it does not, the only place it connects is to the connector road on the next R-6 single family residential 
subdivision plat for consideration.  
    
 
A motion was made to approve APPLICATION SUB 23-09-03: A Preliminary Subdivision PLAT on approximately 
11.54 acres of property in order to develop a townhouse subdivision of approximately 93 units on Westside Road.   
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack  

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 



 

7 
 

10. Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve APPLICATION SUB 23-09-04: 
Mitchell Ball requests Preliminary Subdivision PLAT approval on approximately 32.6 acres 
of property in order to develop a single-family detached subdivision of approximately 90 units 
on Timber Road & Stockyard Road. 
 

A motion was made to open the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Evan Bennett with Hussy Gay Bell on behalf of the applicant spoke in favor of the request.  
 
Lauretha Best stated her concerns about connecting a townhome subdivision with a single family subdivision.  
Marsha Twiggs stated her concerns with increased traffic on Stockyard Road and safety issues that come along with it.  
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
Councilmember Paulette Chavers stated that we sat down with members of the community, during the discussion, it was 
indicated that a sign would be placed on Timber Road and she is not pleased this did not happen. Secondly is there a 
way to avoid the entrance and exit not having to run through Timber Road because that seems to be the only issue at this 
point.  
 
Evan Bennett with HGB stated there is no guarantee the Westside Road development will take place because it is a 
different owner. If it does not get developed then there would be no connection to Westside Road and would leave only 
one entrance for this development, which is not allowed by city requirements from a public safety standpoint.  
 
City Manager Charles Penny stated there are other traffic calming things such as speed bumps that can be done which 
may discourage folks from using that particular road. In addition the absence of a sign on Timber Road was not done 
intentional it was miscommunication. Mr. Penny asked if council would give us some time to look at options and then 
this item can be brought back for consideration at the second meeting in November.       
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack  

Boyum, Chavers, Mack, Riggs, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 



8 
 

 
A motion was made to table APPLICATION SUB 23-09-04 until the second meeting in November.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

11. Consideration of a motion to approve Public Hearing & Consideration of a Motion to approve 
application for an alcohol license in accordance with The City of Statesboro alcohol ordinance 
Sec. 6-13 (a): 
     
      Family Dollar #30436 
      20 Veterans Memorial Plaza 
      Statesboro, Ga 30458 
      License Type: Package Sales – (Beer and Wine)  
 

A motion was made to open the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
A motion was made to close the public hearing.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 



 

9 
 

A motion was made to approve application for an alcohol license in accordance with The City of Statesboro alcohol 
ordinance Sec. 6-13 (a): issued to Family Dollar #30436, located at 20 Veterans Memorial Plaza Statesboro, Ga 30458 
for License Type: Package Sales – (Beer and Wine)   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

12. Second Reading and Consideration of a motion to approve Ordinance 2023-16: An Ordinance 
amending Chapter 38, Article VII Blight Tax of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances.  

 
City Attorney Cain Smith explained the blight tax ordinance provides a mechanism and administrative procedure for 
designating properties as being blighted. A blighted property would be subject to a higher rate of taxation unless and 
until the blighted condition is remediated. When a blighted property is remediated the owner would receive a 50% 
taxation reduction for three years. The multiplying factor will be a part of the City’s Schedule of Rates, Fines, and Fees 
adopted each year. This ordinance shall not apply to detached single family dwelling units, whether occupied or not.  
    
A motion was made to approve Ordinance 2023-16: An Ordinance amending Chapter 38, Article VII Blight Tax of the 
Statesboro Code of Ordinances.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

13. Consideration of motion to approve an amendment to the Service Delivery Strategy to create 
wastewater service area for the City of Brooklet. 
 

A motion was made to approve an amendment to the Service Delivery Strategy to create wastewater service area for the 
City of Brooklet.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 



10 
 

14. Consideration of a motion to authorize the Mayor to execute a Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) between the City of Statesboro and Pineland Behavioral Health and 
Developmental Disabilities for transit vouchers. 

 
A motion was made to authorize the Mayor to execute a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the City of 
Statesboro and Pineland Behavioral Health and Developmental Disabilities for transit vouchers.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

15. Consideration of a motion to award a contract for professional right-of-way services of the 
East Main Street Sidewalk Improvements project to Tennille Valuation & Consulting 
Services, LLC in the amount of $32,000.00. The project work will be paid from 2018 TSPLOST 
Funds.  
 

A motion was made to approve an award of contract for professional right-of-way services of the East Main Street 
Sidewalk Improvements project to Tennille Valuation & Consulting Services, LLC in the amount of $32,000.00. The 
project work will be paid from 2018 TSPLOST Funds.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 

16. Consideration of a motion to approve a Water/Sewer Agreement with Ecoplastics America 
Corp. for 78.40 acres located at 4800 US HWY 301 S. Register, 30452 GA, Property Tax 
Number 049 000022 000. 
 

A motion was made to approve a Water/Sewer Agreement with Ecoplastics America Corp. for 78.40 acres located at 
4800 US HWY 301 S. Register, 30452 GA, Property Tax Number 049 000022 000.  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 



 

11 
 

17. Other Business from City Council:  
 
Councilmember Venus Mack announced that the Business Commission will be hosting a Small Business listening 
session on Monday October 30th at 6:00 pm in the Council Chambers. 
Mayor McCollar commended the citizens of Statesboro for coming out on Sunday October 14th against gun violence in 
our community.  
 
 

18. City Managers Comments 
 
City Manager Charles Penny stated during the work session Police Chief Mike Broadhead gave a presentation regarding 
enhanced recruitment incentives for the Statesboro police department and approval is needed from City Council for these 
increased expenditures. The incentives are $2,500 signing bonus for non-certified individuals, $5,000 signing bonus for 
certified individuals with 3-5 years of experience, and &10,000 signing bonus for certified individuals with five or more 
years of experience. 
 
A motion was made to approve the enhanced recruitment incentives for the Statesboro Police Department as 
recommended by staff.   
  
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 

19. Public Comments (General):  
 
Marsha Twiggs voiced her concern with the ditch on Stockyard Road in front of her house asking that the city cover it 
for safety reasons.  
Assistant City Manager Jason Boyles stated this area is being looked at as a future CIP project.   
 
 
Marcus Toole with Habitat for Humanity commends the City of Statesboro and Brooklet for the sewer connection. Mr. 
Toole shared with Mayor and Council miniature transit buses which has a QR code on it that tells folks about the new 
transit bus system here in the city. He also stated our local Habitat is now a package dealer for UDSA loans.  
 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr thanked the Statesboro Fire Department for the smoke alarm blitz they did last weekend. She 
also shared that Recycle Fest will be taking place on November 18th  
 
 
Councilmember Paulette Chavers encourages citizens in District 2 to get out and vote on November 7th.  
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Mayor Pro Tem Shari Barr 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 



12 
 

20. Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Personnel Matters” 
“Real Estate” and/or “Potential Litigation” in accordance with O.C.G.A 50-14-3(b). 

 
At 7:11 pm a motion was made to enter into Execute session for “Personnel Matters” and “Potential Litigation”.    
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 
At 7:25 pm a motion was made to exit Executive Session.     
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
Mayor McCollar called the regular meeting back to order.  
 
A motion was made to approve the appointment of Joseph Folsom, Savannah Beck, and Matthew Lovett to the Statesboro 
Planning Commission.  
 
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack 

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 



 

13 
 

21. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
A motion was made to adjourn.   
 

  RESULT: 
 

  MOVER: 
 

  SECONDER: 
 

  AYES: 
  

               ABSENT 
 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 7:26 pm. 
 
  

_______________________________ 
Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

 
_______________________________ 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
 

Approved (Unanimous) 

Councilmember Paulette Chavers 

Councilmember Venus Mack  

Chavers, Mack, Barr 

Councilmember Phil Boyum & Councilmember John Riggs 









 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan M McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: October 30, 2023 
 
RE: November 7, 2023 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Public Hearing regarding proposed name change of Brown Street 
to Loretta’s Way  
 
Recommendation: None 
 
Background: This hearing is brought forth pursuant to City 58-9. Affected 
residents have been notified, and hearing has been properly noticed.  

 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: None  
 
Attachments: None 



 

 

CITY OF STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John C. Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From: Cain Smith, City Attorney 
 
Date: October 30, 2023 
 
RE: November 7, 2023 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: First reading of proposed amendments to the Statesboro Code of 
Ordinances Chapter 6 Section 6-5(f) and (r) to allow for consideration of 
application prior to having a certificate of occupancy and waiving background 
requirements for certain applicants. . 
 
Recommendation: N/A 
 
Background: Mayor and Council directed drafting of revision at October 17, 
2023 work session for first reading at next regular meeting. 
 
Budget Impact: None 
 
Council Person and District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed redlined amended versions of Section 6-5(f) and (r) 



Ordinance 2023-17: 

Sec. 6-5. - Application procedure; contents of application; contents to be furnished under oath. 

(f)Fire and safety inspection. All businesses where alcohol is consumed on the premises shall satisfy all 
requirements of a fire and life safety inspection performed by the local fire official and city building 
official or his or her designee. The local fire official may cause to be inspected any building or portion of 
any building licensed under this ordinance. Application may be brought before Mayor & Council for 
consideration prior to acquiring a certificate of occupancy, but no license allowing sales shall be granted 
until such time as the certificate of occupancy is granted for the location. 

(r) Licensees with multiple locations. Licensees currently holding Package- Beer and Wine licenses for 
two or more locations in the City of Statesboro shall be exempted from the fingerprinting and 
background check requirements contained in Section 6-5(b) if applicant licensee has satisfactorily met 
these requirements within the 3 years immediately prior to submission of subject application. 





Secs. 82.100 Private Sewer Laterals 

(a) Responsibility for the repair, replacement, and maintenance of the sewer lateral. The owner of the

property or properties serviced shall be responsible for any portion of the private sewer lateral

extending from a building to the public sewer main, including the wye connection that joins the

private sewer lateral to the public sewer main. Any repairs, replacements or maintenance, such

as clearing pipes using common industry hydro or mechanical cleaning tools, will not be provided

by the city on private sewer laterals or in private sewer systems. Responsibility for such repairs,

replacements and maintenance is that of the owner of the property or properties serviced by the

lateral.

(b) Determination. The city authorities or any agent of the city shall have the sole discretion to

determine when repair and/or replacement is required due to unacceptable conditions of a sewer

lateral.

Secs. 82.101 Sewer Lateral Replacement Assistance Program 

(a) Eligibility. There shall be an established sewer lateral replacement program to mitigate a portion

of the cost to repair a private sewer lateral within the public right away. In order for a property

owner to be eligible for the replacement assistance program, the following conditions must be

met:

a. Be the owner and occupant of a single-family residential home located within the

municipal limits. Proof of property ownership must be provided.

b. Prior to obtaining replacement assistance, all city bills (i.e., water/sewer, sanitation, etc.),

City of Statesboro property taxes, licenses, and/or permits, including the occupational tax

certificate if the owner operates a business within the city limits, must be paid in full.

c. The property owner must first have a licensed plumbing contractor video inspect their

sewer line. A copy of the video inspection must be submitted with the replacement

assistance application.

d. The property owner must then obtain and submit three quotes from a licensed plumbing

contractor to submit with the replacement assistance application. Assistance will not

exceed the lowest quote.

e. The property owner is responsible for contacting their insurance company to determine

if any portion or the entire sewer lateral repair is covered by the homeowner's insurance

policy.

(b) Ineligible for replacement assistance. The following conditions are ineligible for replacement

assistance:

a. The cost of interior clean-up or other damage to the interior of the home or personal

property caused by sanitary sewer back-ups resulting from the failure of the sewer lateral

or sanitary sewer main

b. The cost of removal and/or replacement of any site improvements (i.e., fences, trees,

landscaping, etc.) necessary for excavation to repair or replace the sewer

c. The cost of lost wages or income to the home occupant or property owner due to absence

from work necessary to work with contractors to complete the repairs

d. The initial cost of cabling or other methods to attempt to clear the blockage prior to the

repair

Ordinance 2023 - 18 





 

 

   CITY OF STATESBORO 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • www.statesboroga.gov 

To:  Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk 
 
From:  Olympia Gaines, Assistant to the City Manager 
 
Date:  November 1, 2023 
 
Re:  November 7, 2023 City Council Agenda Items 
 
Policy Issue: Public Hearing and First Reading of an Amendment to Chapter 66, Article V Collection 
Practices of the Statesboro Code of Ordinances in order to amend the text in Section 66-91 (c) (1).  
 
Recommendation: Advance to Second Reading and Consideration 
 
Background: The Statesboro Code of Ordinance allows residents to be fine for failure to remove 
polycarts after the assigned collection date in the amount of $10.00 per day. Staff is recommending 
this amount be amended to following: $50 for first offense, $75 for second offense, and $100 for third 
and subsequent offenses.  If approved, the fine violations will be referenced in the City’s Schedule of 
Fees. 

Budget Impacts: N/A 
 
Council Person or District: All 
 
Attachments: Proposed Ordinance 
 
 
   



ORDINANCE 2023 – 19: 

Ordinance Amendment: Article V Collection Practices, Section 66-91 Residential Garbage Collection of 
Chapter 66 Solid Waste 

 

Sec. 66-91. - Residential garbage collection. Current Ordinance 
(a) Garbage and solid waste at residences within the city shall be collected only by departments and 

employees of the city, or pursuant to a contract or franchise issued by the city. Removal by persons 
for hire or compensation is prohibited. 

(b)  Collections from residential premises with a refuse receptacle shall be made once weekly, with the 
exception of holidays or in times when such collection is impossible, such as in the event of natural 
disasters. 

(c)(1) Resident(s) shall place garbage for curbside pickup in carts provided by the city. On the evening 
before each day assigned by the city sanitation superintendent for collection in the resident's area, 
the cart shall be placed at a curbside point designated by city sanitation officials no earlier than 
6:00 p.m. for pick up the next day. The cart shall be removed from the curbside point by the 
resident no later than 8:00 a.m. on the day after the assigned collection date. Failure to remove a 
cart by 8:00 a.m. on the day after the assigned collection date shall result in a fine of $10.00 per 
day until the cart is removed. Failure to remove a cart by 8:00 am on the day after the assigned 
collection date shall result in a fine per each occurrences as set forth in the schedule of fees.  At 
other times, carts will be stored by the resident(s) where possible in locations not visible from the 
street or road on which the garbage is collected. 

 



Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phillip A. Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

To: City Manager Charles Penny & City Clerk Leah Harden 

From: Tax Department 

Date: 10/31/2023 

RE: El Maguey II Mexican Restaurant

Policy Issue: Mayor and Council shall approve application in accordance with City of Statesboro Alcohol 
Ordinance Chapter 6-13 (a): 

No new alcoholic beverage license to sell, dispense, pour or offer to sell, dispense or pour any distilled 
spirits, alcoholic beverages, wine, beer or malt beverages within the corporate limits of the City of 
Statesboro shall be issued to a new owner or new location until the application has been approved by the 
mayor and city council after a public hearing. 

Recommendation: Planning & Development, Fire Department, Police Department, and Legal 
recommended approval 

Budget Impact: None 

Council Person & District: Shari Barr, District 5

Attachments: Application & Department Approvals 





















El Maguey II
1100 Brampton Ave Suite E
Statesboro, Ga 30458

Please enter your recommendations and comments with your full name.

Alcohol License Review

Department Full Name Recommendation Comments

Planning &
Development

Jermaine
Foster

Approved 09/06/2023 THis location is zoned
Commercial Retail. Alcohol is a permissible
use in CR.

Fire Department Andrew
Cheney

Approved OTC inspection 9/26/2023

Police
Department

Jared
Akins

Approved No issues noted

Legal Cain Smith Approve



   CITY OF STATESBORO

To:  Mr. Charles Penny, City Manager 

From:  Cindy S. West, Finance Director 

Date: October 31, 2023 

RE: Amendment of FY2024 Schedule of Rates, Fees and Fines 

Background:  The Blighted Property Tax Multiplication Factor was previously 

included in an Ordinance.  The current Ordinance has been amended to 

reference the City’s Rates, Fees and Fines Schedule.  Therefore, an amendment 

to the FY2024 Rates, Fees and Fines Schedule needs to be amended to reflect the 

Blighted Property Ad Valorem Tax Multiplication Factor 7.0.  The changes are 

highlighted in yellow. 

Budget Impact: N/A 

Council Person and District: All 

Attachments:  Resolution 2023-45

COUNCIL 

Phillip A. Boyum 

Paulette Chavers 

Venus Mack 

John C. Riggs 

Shari Barr

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 

Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 

I. Cain Smith, City Attorney

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 



RESOLUTION 2023-45:  A RESOLUTION TO ADOPT THE SECOND 
AMENDMENT TO THE CITY OF STATESBORO SCHEDULE OF FEES, RATES, 

AND FINES FOR FISCAL YEAR 2024.  

THAT WHEREAS, the City Council viewed and approved the City of Statesboro 
Schedule of Fees, Rates, and Fines that incorporates all departments inclusive for Fiscal 
Year 2024. 

WHEREAS, it is required by the departments to uphold the policy and pricing as 
laid out within the document as the standard. 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have reviewed a proposed Second 
Amendment to the Schedule of Fees, Rates, and Fines from the City Manager that includes 
proposed Blight Property Ad Valorem Tax Multiplication Factor. 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council wish to adopt this Second 
Amendment for Fiscal Year 2024; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the 
City of Statesboro, Georgia as follows: 

Section 1.  That the proposed changes to the Schedule of Fees, Rates,  and Fines, 
attached hereto as Attachment #1 and incorporated herein as a part of this Resolution, are 
hereby adopted as the Second Amendment for the City's Fiscal Year 2024 Schedule of 
Fees, Rates, and Fines. 

Section 5.  That this Resolution shall be and remain in full force and effect from 
and after its date of adoption. 

Adopted this 7th day of November, 2023. 

CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 

__________________________________________ 
By:  Jonathan M. McCollar, Mayor 

__________________________________________ 
Attest: Leah Harden, City Clerk 



ATTACHMENT #1 
 

FY 2024 SECOND SCHEDULE OF FEES, RATES AND FINES AMENDMENT 
 

Page 4: Blighted Property Ad Valorem Tax Multiplication Factor 7.0 
 
 
 
 



City of Statesboro, Georgia

Schedule of Rates, Fees, and Fines 

Fiscal Year Ending 

June 30, 2024 

Amended: 11/7/23



FY2024 Schedule of Fees, Rates and Fines 

Table of Contents 

Planning and Development .................................................................................... 1-3 
Engineering ............................................................................................................ 3-4 
City Clerk ............................................................................................................... 4-6 
Statesboro Police ........................................................................................................ 6 
Finance ....................................................................................................................... 7 
Statesboro Fire ..................................................................................................... 7-10 
Municipal Court ....................................................................................................... 10 
Natural Gas......................................................................................................... 10-12 
Public Works – Streets Division .............................................................................. 12 
Public Works – Parks Division ................................................................................ 12 
Solid Waste Collection....................................................................................... 12-15 
Solid Waste Disposal ............................................................................................... 16 
Storm Water ............................................................................................................. 16 
Water and Sewer ................................................................................................ 16-25 
Municipal Court Fines List ................................................................................ 26-32 



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

1

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Electrical Permits:* (Per size of service)
60 to 100 AMP main switch City Ordinance Sec 1707 $31.50 $31.50 > 14 Years
101 to 200 AMP main switch City Ordinance Sec 1707 $52.50 $52.50 > 14 Years 
201 to 400 AMP main switch City Ordinance Sec 1707 $84.00 $84.00 > 14 Years
401 to 600 AMP main switch City Ordinance Sec 1707 $115.50 $115.50 > 14 Years 
601 to 800 AMP main switch City Ordinance Sec 1707 $210.00 $210.00 > 14 Years
801 to 1200 AMP main switch City Ordinance Sec 1707 $315.00 $315.00 > 14 Years 
2101 to 2000 AMP main switch City Ordinance Sec 1707 $472.50 $472.50 > 14 Years
2001 to 4000 AMP main switch City Ordinance Sec 1707 $1,050.00 $1,050.00 > 14 Years 

* One  permit charge. $35.00 $35.00 > 14 Years
* Each circuit connected in panel (in use) shall be $3.00 in addition to the above charges.
* Minimum inspection charges on any job will be $35.00.

Plumbing Permits:
Plumbing permit per fixture charge City Ordinance Sec 1707 $6.00 $6.00 > 14 Years
Minimum Inspection Fee City Ordinance Sec 1707 $35.00 $35.00 > 14 Years

HVAC Permits:
HVAC permit per ton up to 49,999 BTU heating City Ordinance Sec 1707 $9.00 $9.00 > 14 Years
HVAC permit per ton (condensing unit) charge per 50,000 to 100,000 BTU  City Ordinance Sec 1707 $20.00 $20.00 > 14 Years
Permit per ton for every additional 100,000 BTU charge City Ordinance Sec 1707 $20.00 $20.00 > 14 Years
Minimum Inspection Fee City Ordinance Sec 1707 $35.00 $35.00 > 14 Years

Protective Inspections:
First Inspection City Ordinance Sec 1707 $35.00 $35.00 > 14 Years
Second Inspection City Ordinance Sec 1707 $50.00 $50.00 > 14 Years
Third Inspection City Ordinance Sec 1707 $75.00 $75.00 > 14 Years
Fourth Inspection and Subsequent Inspections City Ordinance Sec 1707 $100.00 $100.00 > 14 Years

Building Permits: * * This fee does not include fees for required inspections and plan review.
Value of Project: I.R.B.C.;  City Ordinance Sec 14-01
$1000 and less No fee, unless inspection is required, in which case a $35.00 fee for each inspection shall be required. > 14 Years
$1000 to $100,000 $35.00 for first $1,000.00 plus $6.00 for each additional thousand or fraction thereof to, and including, $100,000.00. > 14 Years
$100,000 to $500,000 $629.00 for first $100,000.00 plus $4.00 for each additional thousand or fraction thereof, to and including $500,000.00. > 14 Years
$500,000 and up $2,229.00 for the first $500,000.00 plus $3.00 for each additional thousand or fraction thereof. > 14 Years

Other Permits:
Subdivision Permit (Commercial & Residential) City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 N/A N/A
Demolition Permit Per Structure City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 $75.00 $75.00 > 14 Years
Moving Permit Per Structure City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 $100.00 $100.00 > 14 Years

Planning and Development Department



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

2

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Zoning Fee Schedule:
Administrative Variance City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 $50.00 $50.00 Nov 2011
Annexation*

Single-Family Residential Districts City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 June 16, 2009
R-3 and R-4 Multi-Family Districts City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 June 16, 2009
Commercial And Industrial Districts City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 June 16, 2009

Special Exception
Single-Family Residential Districts City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 $150.00 $150.00 June 16, 2009
R-3 and R-4 Multi-Family Districts City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 $250.00 $250.00 June 16, 2009
Commercial And Industrial Districts City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 $250.00 $250.00 June 16, 2009

Variance**
Single-Family Residential Districts City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 $250.00 $250.00 June 16, 2009
R-3 and R-4 Multi-Family Districts City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 $300.00 $300.00 June 16, 2009
Commercial And Industrial Districts City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 $350.00 $350.00 June 16, 2009

Zoning Map Amendment***
Single-Family Residential Districts City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 $200.00 + $2.00 per acre $200.00 + $2.00 per acre June 16, 2009
R-3 and R-4 Multi-Family Districts City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 $300.00 + $2.00 per acre $300.00 + $2.00 per acre June 16, 2009
Commercial And Industrial Districts City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 $400.00 + $2.00 per acre $400.00 + $2.00 per acre June 16, 2009

Wireless Communication Conditional Use
Single-Family Residential Districts City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 N/A N/A
R-3 and R-4 Multi-Family Districts City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 July 1, 2015
Commercial And Industrial Districts City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 $3,000.00 $3,000.00 July 1, 2015

Wireless Communication Tower maintenance & Upgrade Permit
Single-Family Residential Districts City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 N/A N/A
R-3 and R-4 Multi-Family Districts City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 $50.00 $50.00 July 1, 2015
Commercial And Industrial Districts City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 $50.00 $50.00 July 1, 2015

Signs
New sign/sign modification City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 $50.00 + $1.00 S.F. $50.00 + $1.00 S.F. July 16, 2009
Wireless Communication Maint & Upgrades City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 $75.00 $75.00 July 1, 2015
Temporary sign or banner City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 N/A N/A

Other
Appeal**** City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 July 1, 2015
Applicant Request to Table City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 N/A N/A
Article XV Plan Review (Man., Mobile, & Modular Home) City Ordinance Apen. A Sec 1707 N/A N/A

Note * Applications for annexation at the default R-40 zoning district shall be processed for no fee.
** A separate application must be processed for each instance and/or provision in which a variance is requested.

**** Appeal fee of $150.00 (excluding advertisement) refunded if ruling favors applicant. 
All fees, including surcharges, shall double where application for a permitted activity is made retroactively.

*** Fee based on the district being requested.  Applications for property proposed to be zoned PUD shall be based on the primary proposed use of underlying base zoning district.

N/A see Zoning Map Amendment Fee
N/A see Zoning Map Amendment Fee
N/A see Zoning Map Amendment Fee

  $150.00 +Advertisement Fee      $150.00 + Advertisement Fee



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

3

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Subdivisions Fee Schedule:
Major Subdivisions

Sketch Plan City Ordinance Appendix A Art. X N/A N/A
Preliminary Plat City Ordinance Appendix A Art. X N/A N/A
Final Plat * No fee if approved as part of building permit/certificate of occupancy process. $100.00 $100.00 June 16, 2009

Minor Subdivisions
Minor Subdivision Plat City Ordinance Appendix A Art. X $25.00 $25.00 July 1, 2015

Financial
Improvement Guarantee (Original) City Ordinance Appendix A Art. X $50.00 $50.00 June 16, 2009
Improvement Guarantee (Amendment) City Ordinance Appendix A Art. X $50.00 $50.00 June 16, 2009

Other
Appeal ** City Ordinance Appendix A Art. X cost of advertisement fee cost of advertisement fee July 1, 2015
Applicant Request to Table City Ordinance Appendix A Art. X cost of advertisement fee cost of advertisement fee July 1, 2015
Variance (Appendix B [Subdivision Regulations] only)*** City Ordinance Appendix A Art. X $250.00 $250.00 July 1, 2015

Note * Separate fee for each phase and for each amended final plat. City Ordinance Appendix A Art. X
*** A separate application must be processed for each instance and/or provision in which a variance is requested.
Additional administrative activities for which the Statesboro Planning Department has been designated as the City's principal administrative agent.

Miscellaneous:
Development of Regional Impact Surcharge Georgia State Statute $100.00 $100.00 July 1, 2015
Zoning Certification Letter Georgia State Statute $40.00 $40.00 June 16, 2009
Statesboro Subdivision Regulations $20.00 bound copy; $10.00 dig  $20.00 bound copy; $10.00 digital copy
Statesboro Zoning Ordinance $20.00 bound copy; $10.00 dig  $20.00 bound copy; $10.00 digital copy

$20.00 bound copy; $10.00 dig  $20.00 bound copy; $10.00 digital copy
June 16, 2009

Note * Also available on City of Statesboro website: www.statesboroga.gov
All fees, including surcharges, shall double where application for a permitted activity is made retroactively.

Other Permits:
Right of Way Encroachment & Street Excavation Permit City Ordinance Sec 1707 $35.00 $35.00 > 14 Years 
Land Disturbing Activity Permit per Acre** City Ordinance Sec 38-105 ( c ) $40.00 $40.00 > 14 Years 
Right of Way Permit City Ordinance Sec 1707 $100.00 $100.00 July 1, 2015
Cemetery Lots

1 Grave Lot City Ordinance Sec 26-7 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 > 12 Years
2 Grave Lot City Ordinance Sec 26-7 $2,000.00 $2,000.00 > 12 Years
** No application fee

Statesboro Comprehensive Plan (or other official plan or  planning study adopted by 
City Council)*

Engineering Department



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

4

Fee Description:
Government

Statute
FY 2023

(Adopted)
FY 2024

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

City Bus Transit System:
There is a fare to ride a City bus and will be collected at time of transport. The City does not collect on the fares received. 

Bus Fare Cost:
First 6 Months Free Free Jul 01, 2021
1 Way Trip $1.00 $1.00 Jul 01, 2021
Round Trip $2.00 $2.00 Jul 01, 2021
Students/Seniors/Disabled 1 Way Trip $0.50 $0.50 Jul 01, 2021
Students/Seniors/Disabled Round Trip $1.00 $1.00 Jul 01, 2021

Blighted Property Ad Valorem Tax Multiplication Factor City Ordinance Sec 38-162 N/A 7 November 7, 2023
Alcohol License Application Fee: City Ordinance Sec 6-5 (b) $200.00 $200.00 July 1, 2016

Class 1, Package Sales City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 1 $1,750.00 $1,750.00 October 15, 2019
Class 1a, Beer and Wine City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 1 (a) $5,000.00 $5,000.00 March 1, 2022
Class 1b, Distilled Spirits City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 1 (b) $5,000.00 $5,000.00 March 1, 2022
Class 2a, Bar City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 2 $4,300.00 $4,300.00 October 15, 2019
Class 2b, Bar with Kitchen City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 2 $4,300.00 $4,300.00 October 15, 2019
Class 2c, Event Venue City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 2 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 October 15, 2019
Class 2d, Low Volume City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 2 $750.00 $750.00 October 15, 2019
Class 2e, Pub City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 2 $5,600.00 $5,600.00 October 15, 2019
Class 2f, Restaurant City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 2 $2,800.00 $2,800.00 October 15, 2019
Class 3, Licensed Alcoholic Beverage Caterer City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 3 $200.00 $200.00 July 1, 2016
Class 4, Brewer, Manufacturer of Malt Beverages Only City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 4 $1,750.00 $1,750.00 July 1, 2016
Class 5, Broker City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 5 $1,750.00 $1,750.00 July 1, 2016
Class 6, Importer City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 6 $1,750.00 $1,750.00 July 1, 2016
Class 7, Manufacture of Wine Only City Ordinance Sec 6-4 ( c ) 7 $1,750.00 $1,750.00 July 1, 2016
Sunday Sales Permit City Ordinance Sec 6-5 ( d ) $300.00 $300.00 July 1, 2016
Temporary Special Events Permit City Ordinance Sec 6 (d) (3) (b)
City Licensed Caterer City Ordinance Sec 6 (d) (3) (b) $100.00 (Day 1) $100.00 (Day 1) July 16, 2020
All other Applicants City Ordinance Sec 6 (d) (3) (b) $200.00 (Day 2) $200.00 (Day 2) July 16, 2020
Additional Days City Ordinance Sec 6 (d) (3) (a) $50.00 (per day) $50.00 (per day) July 16, 2020
In Room Service Permit City Ordinance Sec 6-5 ( q ) $150.00 $150.00 July 1, 2016
Event Permit for Caterers (Per Event) City Ordinance Sec 6-5 ( p ) $15.00 $15.00 July 1, 2016

Alcohol Beverage Control Security Permit (Obtained at Statesboro Police Dept.) $50.00 $50.00 July 1, 2015
Penalty Fee for Renewal Applications

Applications filed after November 1 but before November 16 City Ordinance Sec 6-5 ( I ) $200.00 $200.00 July 1, 2015
Applications filed after Nov 16 but before Dec 1 City Ordinance Sec 6-5 ( I ) $300.00 $300.00 July 1, 2015
Applications filed after Dec 1* Percent applied City Ordinance Sec 6-5 ( I ) July 1, 2015

Note: * 20% of Annual License Fee but not less than $500.00 whichever is greater.
Criminal Background Check Fee for Alcohol License GAPS GA Applicant Proc Serv $51.00 GAPS $51.00 GAPS > 14 Years 
Application Fee for Business License  (Occupational Tax Certificate) City Ordinance Sec 18-102 $40.00 $40.00 July 1, 2015

City Clerk's Department

leah_coleman
Highlight



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

5

Fee Description:
Government

Statute
FY 2023

(Adopted)
FY 2024

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Business License Fee (Permit for Employee) City Ordinance Sec 18-104 $20.00 $20.00 > 14 Years
Business License Flat Fee (for all businesses) City Ordinance Sec 18-104 $95.00 $95.00 July 1, 2015
Mobile Food Service Business License (OTC) City Ordinance 18-309 (c) $200.00 $200.00 January 19, 2021
Mobile Food Service Location Permit City Ordinance 18-309 (c) (10) $25.00 $25.00 January 19, 2021
Penalties for Violations of Mobile Food Service Ordinance:

First Violation City Ordinance 18-315 (d) (1) $250.00 $250.00 January 19, 2021
Second Violation within the 12 months following the first violation City Ordinance 18-315 (d) (2) $350.00 $350.00 January 19, 2021
Third Violation within the 12 months following the first violation and City Ordinance 18-315 (d) (3) $500.00 $500.00 January 19, 2021
revocation of the mobile food service location approvals

Special Event Permit City Ordinance Sec 6-8 ( 2 ) $50.00 $50.00 July 1, 2015
Distance Waiver Application Fee City Ordinance Sec 6-5 ( o) $150.00 $150.00 July 1, 2015
Temporary Vendors Lic. Application Fee (Street vendors, seasonal, garage sales) City Ordinance Sec 18-289 $35.00 $35.00 March 16, 2016
Practitioners of Professions and Occupations -Occupation Tax City Ordinance Sec 18-105 $400.00 $400.00 > 13 Years
Violation of Businesses who Fail or Refuse To Pay Occupation Tax City Ordinance Sec 18-114 (d) $500.00 $500.00 > 13 Years
Taxi Cab Vehicle for Hire Regulatory Fee City Ordinance Sec 18-103 (a) (1) $80.00 $80.00 July 1, 2015
Pawn Shop License Fee City Ordinance Sec 18-62 $250.00 $250.00 July 1, 2014
Pawn Shop Additional Location Fee City Ordinance Sec 18-62 $250.00 $250.00 July 1, 2014
Pawn Shop Regulatory Fee City Ordinance Sec 18-103 (6) (a) $60.00 $60.00 July 1, 2015
Open Records Request (copies) ** State Regulations $.10 Per Page $.10 Per Page 12 Years
Election Qualifying Fee for Mayor and Council Members State Regulations 3% of Salary 3% of Salary 12 Years
Property Tax Penalty State Regulations .542% until Paid* .542% until Paid* 12 Years
Wrecker and Towing Regulatory Fees City Ordinance Sec. 18-103 (a) (2) $85.00 $85.00 July 1, 2015
Wrecker and Towing Violation Damages City Ordinance Sec. 18-237 $100.00 $100.00 > 13 Years
Wrecker and Towing -No Agreement for Systematic Surveillance of Property for Towing City Ordinance Sec. 18-238 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 > 13 Years
Professional Bondsman Regulatory Fee City Ordinance Sec. 18-103 (a) (3) $85.00 $85.00 July 1, 2015
Billiard Operators Regulatory Fee City Ordinance Sec. 18-103 (a) (4) $55.00 $55.00 July 1, 2015
Criminal Penalties for Ordinance Violations by Owners or Operators of Amusement Game Rooms:

First Offense City Ordinance Sec. 18-273 (a) (1) $500.00 $500.00 > 13 Years
Second Offense City Ordinance Sec. 18-273 (a) (2) $750.00 $750.00 > 13 Years
Third Offense City Ordinance Sec. 18-273 (a) (3) $1,000.00 $1,000.00 > 13 Years
More than Three Offenses City Ordinance Sec. 18-273 (c) $1,000.00 $1,000.00 > 13 Years

Massage Parlor Regulatory Fee City Ordinance Sec. 18-103 (a) (5) $55.00 $55.00 July 1, 2015
Adult Entertainment Establishment Regulatory Fee City Ordinance Sec. 18-103 (a) (7) $55.00 $55.00 July 1, 2015
Adult Entertainment Establishments Investigation Fee City Ordinance Sec. 18-180 (b) $55.00 $55.00 July 1, 2015
Adult Entertainment Establishments Application Fee City Ordinance Sec. 18-181 (a) $2,500.00 $2,500.00 > 13 Years
Adult Entertainment Establishments Application Renewal Fee City Ordinance Sec. 18-187 $500.00 $500.00 > 13 Years
Adult Entertainment Establishments Change of Name/Location Fee City Ordinance Sec. 18-189 $500.00 $500.00 > 13 Years
Adult Entertainment Establishments Business License Violation Fee City Ordinance Sec. 18-197 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 > 13 Years



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

6

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Adult Entertainment Establishments Administrative Fee For Change of Location City Ordinance Sec. 18-201 $15.00 $15.00 > 13 Years
Insurance Companies License Fees City Ordinance Sec. 18-31 $100.00 $100.00 > 11 Years
Insurance Companies Additional Location -per location charge City Ordinance Sec. 18-32 $40.00 $40.00 July 1, 2015
Alcohol Excise Tax on Mixed Drinks*** City Ordinance Sec 6-20 3% 3% Mar 15, 2016
Third (2nd Reprint) Printing of OTC and Alcohol Licenses City Policy $5.00 $5.00 N/A
Hotel Motel Tax Rate City Ordinance Sec 74-22 6% 6% July 1, 2015

* 10% 90 days past due.
** Fee plus salary of lowest paid employee qualified to fill request with the first 15 minutes free.

Type of Charges:
Criminal Background Check O.C.G.A. 35-3-34 (d3) $25.00 each $25.00 each 10 years
Expungement Request O.C.G.A. 35-3-37 $25.00 each $25.00 each 10 years
Police Extra Duty Employment City Policy $48/hr 3 hr min. $48/hr 3 hr min. December 4, 2018
Police Extra Duty Employment Cost Recovery City Policy $6/hr 3 hr min. $6/hr 3 hr min. December 4, 2018
Technology Fee City Ordinance 78-10 $30.00 $30.00 July 1, 2015

Open Records Costs per Open Records Act: Conducted by Open Records Clerk at City Hall
Hours to search retrieve and review

First 15 minutes State Regulations no charge no charge 11 Years
Total hours of preparation* State Regulations x $13.62 =Amount x $13.62 =Amount 11 Years

Total hours of copying documents* State Regulations
Hrly pay rate of 

qualified employee
Hrly pay rate of 

qualified employee 11 Years
Total number of Pages** State Regulations x $0.10 = Amount x $0.10 = Amount 11 Years

Other Costs that may apply
Number of copies of audio tapes (CD-ROM) State Regulations x $.35 = Amount x $.35 = Amount 11 Years
Number of copies of video tapes State Regulations x $.35 = Amount x $.35 = Amount 11 Years
Number of copies of photographs State Regulations x $.10 = Amount x $.10 = Amount 11 Years
Number of CD-ROM's with digital photographs State Regulations x $.35 = Amount x $.35 = Amount 11 Years
Other Agency Costs (specify in detail) State Regulations + (Actual Costs) + (Actual Costs) 11 Years
Postage State Regulations + (Actual Costs) + (Actual Costs) 11 Years

Discovery Request Cost Worksheet
Number of Case Files State Regulations x $5.00 = Amount x $5.00 = Amount 11 Years
Number of copies of audio CD's State Regulations x $5.00 = Amount x $5.00 = Amount 11 Years
Number of copies of photograph CD's State Regulations x $5.00 = Amount x $5.00 = Amount 11 Years
Number of copies of video DVD State Regulations x $25.00 = Amount x $25.00 = Amount 11 Years
Postage State Regulations + Actual cost + Actual cost 11 Years

Note

**Copy Rate - An agency may not charge more than $0.10 per page for each copy.

*** Additional Alcohol excise tax per O.C.G.A.  Title 3, Chapter 5, Article 4, Part 2, 3-5-80: Municipalities shall impose an excise tax in addition to excise taxes levied by the state. 

Statesboro Police Department

*Hourly Rate - The hourly charge for administrative/clerical tasks may not exceed the salary of the lowest paid, full-time employee who, in the discretion of the custodian of records, has the necessary skill and training 
to perform the request.



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

7

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Finance Fees:
 2% Convenience Fee 2% 2% July 1, 2016

Fire Prevention:
Plan Review

Site Plans, per submittal, re-submittals, revisions, changes & amendments: City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $50.00 $50.00 Dec 06, 2016
Construction Plans City Ordinance Sec 42-6

Building Construction and/or Renovation 0 – 2,500 square feet City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $50.00 $50.00 Dec 06, 2016
Building Construction and/or Renovation 2,500 – 5,000 square feet City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $100.00 $100.00 Dec 06, 2016
Building Construction and/or Renovation 5,000 – 10,000 square feet City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $150.00 $150.00 Dec 06, 2016
Building Construction and/or Renovation 10,000 & up square feet* City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $150.00 $150.00 Dec 06, 2016

Fire Sprinkler City Ordinance Sec 42-6
Sprinkler Systems 0 – 2,500 square feet City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $50.00 $50.00 Dec 06, 2016
Sprinkler Systems 2,500 – 5,000 square feet City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $100.00 $100.00 Dec 06, 2016
Sprinkler Systems 5,000 – 10,000 square feet City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $150.00 $150.00 Dec 06, 2016
Sprinkler Systems 10,000 & up square feet* City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $150.00 $150.00 Dec 06, 2016
Single Family Residential, Multi-Family Residential, Commercial, Not Required by Fire Code N/A N/A

Standpipe System
Standpipe Systems: Fee per system ** City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $50.00 $50.00 Dec 06, 2016

Fire Pump
Fire Pump System: Fee per system ** City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $50.00 $50.00 Dec 06, 2016

Fire Alarm
Fire Alarm 0 – 2,500 square feet City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $50.00 $50.00 Dec 06, 2016
Fire Alarm 2,500 – 5,000 square feet City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $100.00 $100.00 Dec 06, 2016
Fire Alarm 5,000 – 10,000 square feet City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $150.00 $150.00 Dec 06, 2016
Fire Alarm 10,000 & up square feet* City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $150.00 $150.00 Dec 06, 2016
Single Family Residential, Multi-Family Residential, Commercial, Not Required by Fire Code N/A N/A

Hood and/or Hood Suppression System
Hood Exhaust System City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $40.00 $40.00 Dec 06, 2016
Hood Suppression System, Fee per system City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $40.00 $40.00 Dec 06, 2016

Firework Displays
Special Effects, Pyrotechnic and Flame Special Effects NOT Close Proximity City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $25.00 $25.00 Dec 06, 2016
Special Effects, Pyrotechnic and Flame Special Effects Close Proximity City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $75.00 $75.00 Dec 06, 2016

Note *$0.015 per additional square foot

Finance Department

Statesboro Fire Department



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

8

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

**except if part of continuation with sprinkler
 Construction

Occupancy Permit cost per permit City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $10.00 $10.00 Dec 06, 2016
Initial Inspection for each initial inspection City Ordinance Sec 42-6 N/A N/A
Re-Inspection Fees

First Re-Inspection City Ordinance Sec 42-6 N/A N/A
Second Re-Inspection and Each Subsequent Re-Inspection City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $50.00 $50.00 Dec 06, 2016

Tent Permit Fee per tent, 400 sq. ft. or more City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $30.00 $30.00 Dec 06, 2016
Temporary place of assembly City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $75.00 $75.00 Dec 06, 2016

Existing Construction
Annual Inspection City Ordinance Sec 42-6 N/A N/A
First Re-Inspection City Ordinance Sec 42-6 N/A N/A
Second Re-Inspection City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $25.00 $25.00 Dec 06, 2016
Third Re-Inspection City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $50.00 $50.00 Dec 06, 2016
Fourth Re-Inspection Fee plus Citation to Municipal Court City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $100.00 $100.00 Dec 06, 2016
Not having required maintenance and documentation form City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $50.00 $50.00 Dec 06, 2016

Fire Sprinkler Systems Fees

Residential, Commercial And Industrial Monthly Fee for inside Fire Service District:
Fire Service Supply Line per inch of line diameter City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $12.50 $12.50 July 1, 2015

Residential, Commercial And Industrial Monthly Fee for outside Fire Service District:
Fire Service Supply Line per inch of line diameter City Ordinance Sec 82-65 $21.50 $21.50 July 1, 2015

Governmental Monthly Fee for inside Fire Service District:
Fire Service Supply Line per inch of line diameter City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $25.00 $25.00 July 1, 2015

Governmental Monthly Fee for outside Fire Service District:
Fire Service Supply Line per inch of line diameter City Ordinance Sec 82-65 $35.00 $35.00 July 1, 2015

Nuisance Fire Alarms
Nuisance Alarm #1 and #2 City Ordinance Sec 42-6 N/A N/A
Nuisance Alarm #3 City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $350.00 $350.00 Dec 06, 2016
Nuisance Alarm #4 City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $500.00 $500.00 Dec 06, 2016
Nuisance Alarm #5 City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $750.00 $750.00 Dec 06, 2016
Nuisance Alarm #6 and above Fee per each occurrence City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $1,000.00 $1,000.00 Dec 06, 2016
Fire Alarm Reconnection City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $50.00 $50.00 Dec 06, 2016
Failure to repair malfunction alarm within 30 days fee per day City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $250.00 $250.00 Dec 06, 2016

City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $250.00 $250.00 Dec 06, 2016

Note: Fire Service fees are calculated per inch of diameter of the fire line. For Example: if the Fire Service Supply Line is 6 inches in diameter, the Monthly Fire Service fee
would be $12.50 X 6" diameter = $75.00.    The Fire Sprinkler Systems Fee is to cover the cost of inspections made by the Fire Department.  The fire department sends a copy of 
the report to the Water/Sewer Department in case EPD need to review them.  The two departments work together to set the rate.

A fee  shall be charged immediately when nuisance fire alarm activation is the result of the failure to use 
prudent and reasonable means to avoid such nuisance fire alarm activations.



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

9

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Fire Lanes
Violation of Fire Lane code* City Ordinance Ch 42 Art 3 Div 4 $150.00 $150.00 Dec 06, 2016
 Parking in a Fire Lane per each occurrence City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $50.00 $50.00 Dec 06, 2016

Note *Plus $10.00 per day after 14 days
Special Request:
Water Flow Test City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $40.00 $40.00 Dec 06, 2016
Response and Presence:

Fire Apparatus Standby and Response

Apparatus Standby fee per vehicle per hour or portion thereof* City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $250.00 $250.00 Dec 06, 2016
Specialized Equipment Standby (e.g. ATV, pickup truck, Fire Safety House, etc.)* City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $150.00 $150.00 Dec 06, 2016

Note *Plus hourly rate for personnel
Fire Personnel Rate

Rates are per hour or portion thereof Fire or special response and standby City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $30.00 $30.00 Dec 06, 2016
Hazardous Material Responders

Operations Level per hour City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $30.00 $30.00 Dec 06, 2016
Technician Level per hour City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $45.00 $45.00 Dec 06, 2016
Specialist Level per hour City Ordinance Sec 42-6 $60.00 $60.00 Dec 06, 2016

Fire Extra Duty Employment City Policy $30/hr 3 hr min. $30/hr 3 hr min. 11 Years
Special Services

Services not specifically listed will be charged at the actual costs to the Statesboro Fire Department plus a fifteen percent (15%) administrative fee Dec 06, 2016
Miscellaneous:

Hazardous Materials Response

Rates based on Federal and/or State Guidelines and actual costs to replace, service, test, and dispose of and equipment utilized plus a fifteen percent (15%) administrative fee Dec 06, 2016
To include Statesboro Fire Department response and any other agencies that assist with the response

USAR Response

Rates based on Federal and/or State Guidelines and actual costs to replace, service, test, and dispose of and equipment utilized plus a fifteen percent (15%) administrative fee Dec 06, 2016
To include Statesboro Fire Department response and any other agencies that assist with the response

Wildland Firefighting (Within Response District)

Rates based on Federal and/or State Guidelines and actual miles traveled, apparatus used, personnel, and replacement of any non-reusable or damaged items Dec 06, 2016
To include Statesboro Fire Department response and any other agencies that assist with the response

Wildland Firefighting (Out of Response District)

                    
          



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

10

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Rates based on Federal and/or State Guidelines and actual miles traveled, apparatus used, personnel, and replacement of any non-reusable or damaged items Dec 06, 2016
Public Information and Records Requests

One-sided copy, for duplicated copies of not more 8½ inches by 14 inches: $0.25 per page
Two sided copy, for duplicated copies of not more 8½ inches by 14 inches: $0.35 per page

Returned Check Fee: $35.00
Late Payment Fee: 1½ % per 30 days

Note All fees are payable to the Statesboro Fire Department unless noted otherwise.
Statesboro Fire Department reserves the right to waive any or all fees on an individual case-by-case basis
This fee schedule will be reviewed annually during the budgeting process.

Court Fees:
Court Costs $20.00 $20.00 July 1, 2015
Jail Fee 10% of Fine 10% of Fine > 15 years

Tap Fees:

Additional Service line City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $3.00 per foot $3.00 per foot > 11 Years
Additional boring City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $10.00 per foot $10.00 per foot > 11 Years
Notes: May be additional charges based on work sit specific conditions.

Large Commercial and Industrial:  Tap fees are based on 3-year payback method  (See example below) > 11 Years
Customer pays all costs above a 3 year payback or $300.00 which ever is greater.
Example:  Cost of installation is $5000.00 Estimated volumes for 3 years x $2.00 per unit is (2000 x $2.00) = $4000. 

Customer would pay: $1000. 
Deposits & AEC Fees:

Residential Standard Deposit City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $85.00 $85.00 > 11 Years
Account Establishment Charge (On First Bill) City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $40.00 $40.00 July 1, 2015
Note Commercial Deposits calculated by Customer Service Department

Service Fees:
Standard Service Fee for all customer types City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $30.00 $30.00 July 1, 2015
Seasonal Gas Reconnect Fee City Ordinance Sec 82-34 See Note See Note July 1, 2015

Note:  Sum of a gas service fee and account establishment charge (AEC).

Natural Gas Fund

Residential and Small Commercial: Tap fees are $300.00 and can be reduced based upon appliance usage: $50.00 reduction for a log or light, $300.00 for a water heater, and $100.00 for a dryer or range. Tap fees include 100 feet 
of service line and a standard meter set.

The applicable hourly rate for requests requiring extensive use of information technology resources, clerical, or supervisory assistance may be charged in addition to the actual cost of duplication.

Statesboro Municipal Court



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

11

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Base Charges:
Residential City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $6.00 $7.50 > 11 Years
Small Commercial City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $10.00 $11.50 > 11 Years
Large Government City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $25.00 $25.00 > 11 Years
Poultry Grower City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $25.00 $25.00 > 11 Years
Commercial HLF City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $25.00 $25.00 > 11 Years
Interruptible and GSU City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $250.00 $300.00 > 11 Years
Standby Rate (Generators & Pumps) City Ordinance Sec 82-34 N/A $25.00 July 1, 2023
Industrial Firm City Ordinance Sec 82-34 N/A $300.00 July 1, 2023

Gas Charges:
All gas rates: Residential, Commercial, Commercial HLF and Interruptible are based on formulas developed by the Municipal Gas Authority.
They account for Variable Costs, which is the cost of gas; Fixed Costs, which is transportation, demand and fuel charges from the pipeline company,
and City Distribution Costs*.  These three components when added together will give you the total cost for gas to each customer class.

* Distribution Charges
LLF Residential           $5.00 floor City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $4.00 (mcf) $4.00 (mcf) > 11 Years
LLF Commercial         $5.00 floor City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $4.00 (mcf) $4.00 (mcf) > 11 Years
Large Government       No floor ** City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $4.00 (mcf) $4.00 (mcf) July 1, 2015
HLF Commercial         $5.00 floor City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $2.75 (mcf) $2.75 (mcf) > 11 Years
Poultry Grower             No floor** City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $3.50 (mcf) $3.50 (mcf) > 11 Years
Interruptible 1st 2,000 mcf tier rate City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $1.10 (mcf) $1.10 (mcf) > 11 Years
Interruptible next 8,000 mcf tier rate City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $.58 (mcf) $.58 (mcf) > 11 Years
Interruptible next 10,000 mcf tier rate City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $.46 (mcf) $.46 (mcf) > 11 Years
Standby Rate               $5.00 floor City Ordinance Sec 82-34 N/A $4.00 (mcf) July 1, 2023
Industrial Firm Rate 1st 2,000 mcf tier rate City Ordinance Sec 82-34 N/A $1.50 (mcf) July 1, 2023
Industrial Firm Rate next 8,000 mcf tier rate City Ordinance Sec 82-34 N/A $1.25 (mcf) July 1, 2023
Industrial Firm Rate next 10,000 mcf tier rate City Ordinance Sec 82-34 N/A $.75 (mcf) July 1, 2023
Industrial Firm Rate over 20,000 mcf tier rate City Ordinance Sec 82-34 N/A $.50 (mcf) July 1, 2023

Notes:
**(>5000MCF per month)

Miscellaneous Material and Labor Charges:
Cost plus 30% will be charged for all materials sold to the public.

Two-man Service Crew and Truck City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $55.00 per hour $75.00 per hour > 11 Years
Backhoe and Operator City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $65.00 per hour $75.00 per hour > 11 Years
Supervisor and Truck City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $35.00 per hour $40.00 per hour > 11 Years
Laborer City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $16.00 per hour $20.00 per hour > 11 Years



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

12

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Customer Assistance Program Rebates:
Gas Advantage Rebate must include Gas heat, hot water and third appliance City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $600.00 $850.00 > 11 Years
Water heater rebate City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $400.00 $500.00 > 11 Years
Ranges and dryers will receive a rebate of: City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $50.00 $100.00 > 11 Years
Gas central heating or Piping system connecting a group of heaters will receive a rebate of: City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $200.00 $300.00 > 11 Years
Large commercial rebates will be the same as residential or can be calculated at $50.00 per 100,000 BTU's Max $2500.00 Max $2500.00 > 11 Years

Appliance Sales:
Gas appliances will be marked up 15% over cost and sales tax will be added.
Gas appliances sold to City employees will be sold at cost plus shipping and sales tax will be added.

Signs (Not Installed):
Handicap Parking Sign 18" x 24" City Policy $55.00 $55.00 July 1, 2015
Stop Sign 36" City Policy $120.00 $120.00 July 1, 2015
Other Signs 36" City Policy $120.00 $120.00 July 1, 2015

Posts (Not Installed):
12 Feet U Channel - New Square Breakaway City Policy $50.00 $50.00 July 1, 2015

Posts and Private Road Street Name Signs:
Installed City Policy $275.00 $275.00 July 1, 2015

Community Garden
Raised Bed 4' x 12' City Policy $25.00 $25.00 July 1, 2022
Ground Plot 15' x 30' City Policy $50.00 $50.00 July 1 ,2022

White Goods Collection:
Cost per item for recyclable metal appliances City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $15.00 each $20.00 each July 1, 2012

Townhome/Apartment/Multi-Family Collection:
Cost indicated is for each unit City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $19.00 per month $21.00 per month July 1, 2017

Residential Polycarts and Yard Waste:
Tippage City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $4.15 $4.65 July 1, 2012
Sanitation City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $13.10 $14.10 July 1, 2017
Yard Waste City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $1.75 $2.25 July 1, 2012
Sanitation Deposit City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $35.00 $42.00 July 2, 2012

Public Works Streets Division

Public Works Parks Division

 Solid Waste Collection Fund



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

13

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Commercial Polycarts:
Tippage City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $4.15 $4.75 July 1, 2012
Sanitation City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $16.10 $18.00 July 1, 2017
Yard Waste City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $1.75 $2.25 July 1, 2012
Sanitation Deposit City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $50.00 July 1, 2023

Polycarts Replacement:
Residential Polycarts City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $70.00 each $85.00 each July 1, 2017
Commercial Polycarts City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $70.00 each $85.00 each July 1, 2017

Commercial Dumpster:
Dumpster 2 yard

1 pickup per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $26.50 $30.00 July 1, 2017
2 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $53.00 $60.00 July 1, 2017
3 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $79.50 $90.00 July 1, 2017
4 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $106.00 $120.00 July 1, 2017
5 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $132.50 $150.00 July 1, 2017
6 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $159.00 $180.00 July 1, 2017
Extra pickup fee City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $26.50 $30.00 July 1, 2017

Dumpster 4 yard
1 pickup per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $53.00 $60.00 July 1, 2017
2 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $106.00 $120.00 July 1, 2017
3 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $159.00 $180.00 July 1, 2017
4 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $212.00 $240.00 July 1, 2017
5 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $265.00 $300.00 July 1, 2017
6 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $318.00 $360.00 July 1, 2017
Extra pickup fee City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $53.00 $60.00 July 1, 2017

Dumpster 6 yard
1 pickup per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $79.50 $90.00 July 1, 2017
2 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $159.00 $180.00 July 1, 2017
3 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $238.50 $270.00 July 1, 2017
4 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $318.00 $360.00 July 1, 2017
5 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $397.50 $450.00 July 1, 2017
6 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $477.00 $540.00 July 1, 2017
Extra pickup fee City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $79.50 $90.00 July 1, 2017



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

14

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Dumpster 8 yard
1 pickup per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $106.00 $120.00 July 1, 2017
2 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $212.00 $240.00 July 1, 2017
3 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $318.00 $360.00 July 1, 2017
4 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $424.00 $480.00 July 1, 2017
5 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $530.00 $600.00 July 1, 2017
6 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $636.00 $720.00 July 1, 2017
Extra pickup fee City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $106.00 $120.00 July 1, 2017

Deposit Monthly Fee x 2 July 1, 2023
Compactor Dumpster Monthly Fee:

Dumpster 2 yard
1 pickup per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $40.00 $45.00 July 1, 2017
2 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $80.00 $90.00 July 1, 2017
3 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $120.00 $135.00 July 1, 2017
4 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $160.00 $180.00 July 1, 2017
5 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $200.00 $225.00 July 1, 2017
6 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $240.00 $270.00 July 1, 2017
Extra pickup fee City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $40.00 $45.00 July 1, 2017

Dumpster 4 yard
1 pickup per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $80.00 $90.00 July 1, 2017
2 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $160.00 $180.00 July 1, 2017
3 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $240.00 $270.00 July 1, 2017
4 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $320.00 $360.00 July 1, 2017
5 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $400.00 $450.00 July 1, 2017
6 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $480.00 $540.00 July 1, 2017
Extra pickup fee City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $80.00 $90.00 July 1, 2017

Dumpster 6 yard
1 pickup per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $120.00 $135.00 July 1, 2017
2 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $240.00 $270.00 July 1, 2017
3 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $360.00 $405.00 July 1, 2017
4 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $480.00 $540.00 July 1, 2017
5 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $600.00 $675.00 July 1, 2017
6 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $720.00 $810.00 July 1, 2017
Extra pickup fee City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $120.00 $135.00 July 1, 2017



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

15

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Dumpster 8 yard
1 pickup per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $160.00 $180.00 July 1, 2017
2 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $320.00 $360.00 July 1, 2017
3 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $480.00 $540.00 July 1, 2017
4 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $640.00 $720.00 July 1, 2017
5 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $800.00 $900.00 July 1, 2017
6 pickups per week City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $960.00 $1,080.00 July 1, 2017
Extra pickup fee City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $160.00 $180.00 July 1, 2017

Deposit Monthly Fee x 2 July 1, 2023
Compactor Dumpster Equipment Lease

Equipment only monthly lease agreement (60 month minimum) + equipment set up City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $450.00 $500.00 July 1, 2017
Yard Waste Fee:

Leaf, Limbs and yard trimmings Monthly Fees Added to Bill City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $1.75 $2.25 July 1, 2012
Special Pickups:

City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $50.00 $55.00 July 1, 2017
City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $95.00 hr. + Tippage $125.00 hr. + Tippage July 1, 2017

Roll-Off Collection:
Delivery and Collection trip plus Tippage fees incurred. City Ordinance Sec 66-6
Collection Pull Charge (each) City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $95.00 $125.00 July 1, 2017
Tippage Fee (per ton) City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $50.00 $75.00 July 1, 2017
Delivery Charge (each) City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $50.00 $75.00 July 1, 2017
Relocation Charge (each) City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $50.00 $75.00 July 1, 2017
Minimum monthly rental charge (if no collection pull charge is assessed) City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $95.00 $125.00 July 1, 2017
Rolloff collection charge +5 miles City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $130.00 $180.00 July 1, 2021
Rolloff deliver charge +5 miles City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $65.00 $100.00 July 1, 2021
Deposit Est. Monthly Fee x 3 July 1, 2023

Roll-Off Compactor Collection:
Collection Pull Charge (each) City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $135.00 $175.00 July 1, 2015
Tippage Fee (per ton) City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $50.00 $75.00 July 1, 2017
Delivery Charge (each) City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $50.00 $75.00 July 1, 2017

Roll-Off Compactor Equipment Lease:
Equipment only monthly lease agreement (60 month minimum) plus equipment set up City Ordinance Sec 66-6 $650.00 $750.00 July 1, 2015
Deposit Monthly Fee x 2 July 1, 2023

Fee Credits:
Elderly/Low Income Credit  Monthly Fee Reduction To Bill City Ordinance Sec 66-7 $3.95 $7.00 Aug 04, 2016

Tippage Fee (per ton)
One hour minimum charge + Tippage fee (variable). After 1 hour, rate assessed in 0.25 hr. intervals. 
Total varies.



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

16

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Waste Received:
Household/Commercial Garbage and Construction/Demolition Material City Ordinance Sec 66-140 $40.00 per ton $44.00 per ton July 1, 2012
Yard Waste & Inert Material City Ordinance Sec 66-140 $22.50 per ton $25.00 per ton July 1, 2012
Recyclable Metals City Ordinance Sec 66-140 No Charge No Charge July 1, 2012
Minimum Disposal Handling Fee City Ordinance Sec 66-140 $8.00 each $15.00 each July 1, 2012
Sorted Recyclable Cardboard or Plastic City Ordinance Sec 66-140 No Charge No Charge July 1, 2012
Acceptable Cover-Type Soil City Ordinance Sec 66-140 No Charge No Charge July 1, 2012
Georgia Department of Transportation City Ordinance Sec 66-140 No Charge No Charge July 1, 2012
Bulk Tires City Ordinance Sec 66-140 $130.00 per ton $230.00 per ton July 1, 2012

Storm Water Fee:
Single Family Residential (SFR) City Ordinance Sec 82-268 $5.00 $5.00 July 1, 2020
Non-Single Family Residential (NSFR) City Ordinance Sec 82-268 $5.00 per ERU* $5.00 per ERU* July 1, 2020

Note * 1 Equivalent Residential Unit (ERU)  = 3200 SF of impervious area City Ordinance Sec 82-268
Reinforced Concrete Pipe Installed for Driveways:

One and Two family residential driveways only.
Diameter Class Min. Length
15" III DOT Approved 8 feet City Policy $27.00 $27.00 July 1, 2015
18" III DOT Approved 8 feet City Policy $31.00 $31.00 July 1, 2015
24" III DOT Approved 8 feet City Policy $42.00 $42.00 July 1, 2015
30" III DOT Approved 8 feet City Policy $54.00 $54.00 July 1, 2015
36" III DOT Approved 8 feet City Policy $68.00 $68.00 July 1, 2015

Residential Customers
Water and Sewer for Inside City Limits:

Water:
Base Charge for water per month City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $7.50 $9.00 July 1, 2016
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.25 $2.25 July 1, 2012
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.35 $2.35 July 1, 2012
20-49000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.60 $2.60 July 1, 2012
All over 49000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $3.15 $3.15 July 1, 2012
Sewer:
Base Charge for sewer per month City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $7.50 $9.00 July 1, 2016
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.70 $2.97 July 1, 2012
10-49000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.80 $3.08 July 1, 2012
All over 49000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.90 $3.19 July 1, 2012

 Solid Waste Disposal Fund

Storm Water Fund

Water and Sewer Fund



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

17

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Water only:
Base Charge for water per month City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $15.00 $18.00 July 1, 2016
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.25 $2.25 July 1, 2012
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.35 $2.35 July 1, 2012
20-49000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.60 $2.60 July 1, 2012
All over 49000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $3.15 $3.15 July 1, 2012
Sewer only:
Base Charge for sewer per month City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $15.00 $18.00 July 1, 2016
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.70 $2.97 July 1, 2012
10-49000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.80 $3.08 July 1, 2012
All over 49000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.90 $3.19 July 1, 2012

Water only Irrigation  Inside City Limits:
Base Charge for water per month City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $15.00 $18.00 July 1, 2016
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.25 $2.25 July 1, 2012
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.35 $2.35 July 1, 2012
20-49000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.60 $2.60 July 1, 2012
All over 49000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $3.15 $3.15 July 1, 2012

Industrial Customers

Note  * Industrial Customers located within Gateway or Holland Industrial Park requires an Industrial Pretreatment Permit.
Water and Sewer Inside City Limits:

Water:
Base Charge for water per month City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $12.00 N/A July 1, 2012
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $4.30 $4.30 July 1, 2012
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $4.50 $4.50 July 1, 2012
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $4.70 $4.70 July 1, 2012
Sewer:
Base Charge for sewer per month City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $12.00 N/A July 1, 2012
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $5.20 $5.20 July 1, 2012
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $5.40 $5.40 July 1, 2012
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $5.60 $5.60 July 1, 2012
Water Only:
Base Charge for water per month City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $24.00 N/A July 1, 2012
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $4.30 $4.30 July 1, 2012
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $4.50 $4.50 July 1, 2012
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $4.70 $4.70 July 1, 2012



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

18

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Sewer Only:
Base Charge for sewer per month City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $24.00 N/A July 1, 2012
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $5.20 $5.20 July 1, 2012
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $5.40 $5.40 July 1, 2012
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $5.60 $5.60 July 1, 2012

Commercial Customers
Water and Sewer Inside City Limits:

Water:
Base Charge for water per month City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $8.50 N/A July 1, 2016
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.60 $2.60 July 1, 2012
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.70 $2.70 July 1, 2012
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.80 $2.80 July 1, 2012
Sewer:
Base Charge for sewer per month City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $8.50 N/A July 1, 2016
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $3.05 $3.29 July 1, 2012
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $3.15 $3.40 July 1, 2012
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $3.25 $3.51 July 1, 2012
Water Only:
Base Charge for water per month City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $17.00 N/A July 1, 2016
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.60 $2.60 July 1, 2012
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.70 $2.70 July 1, 2012
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $2.80 $2.80 July 1, 2012
Sewer Only:
Base Charge for sewer per month City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $17.00 N/A July 1, 2016
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $3.05 $3.29 July 1, 2012
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $3.15 $3.40 July 1, 2012
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $3.25 $3.51 July 1, 2012

Governmental Customers 
Water and Sewer Inside City Limits:

Water:
Base Charge for water per month City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $13.50 N/A Sep 24, 2013
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $4.05 $4.05 Sep 24, 2013
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $4.30 $4.30 Sep 24, 2013
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $4.50 $4.50 Sep 24, 2013



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

19

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Sewer:
Base Charge for sewer per month City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $13.50 N/A Sep 24, 2013
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $4.90 $5.19 Sep 24, 2013
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $5.10 $5.41 Sep 24, 2013
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $5.35 $5.67 Sep 24, 2013
Water Only:
Base Charge for water per month City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $27.00 N/A Sep 24, 2013
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $4.05 $4.05 Sep 24, 2013
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $4.30 $4.30 Sep 24, 2013
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $4.50 $4.50 Sep 24, 2013
Sewer Only:
Base Charge for sewer per month City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $27.00 N/A Sep 24, 2013
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $4.90 $5.19 Sep 24, 2013
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $5.10 $5.41 Sep 24, 2013
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-5 (b) $5.35 $5.67 Sep 24, 2013

Residential Customers
Water and Sewer for Outside City Limits:

Water:
Base Charge for water per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $15.00 $18.00 July 1, 2016
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.50 $4.50 Sep 24, 2013
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.70 $4.70 Sep 24, 2013
20-49000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $5.20 $5.20 Sep 24, 2013
All over 49000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $6.30 $6.30 Sep 24, 2013
Sewer:
Base Charge for sewer per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $15.00 $18.00 July 1, 2016
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $5.40 $5.94 Sep 24, 2013
10-49000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $5.60 $6.16 Sep 24, 2013
All over 49000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $5.80 $6.38 Sep 24, 2013
Water Only:
Base Charge for water per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $30.00 $36.00 July 1, 2016
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.50 $4.50 Sep 24, 2013
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.70 $4.70 Sep 24, 2013
20-49000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $5.20 $5.20 Sep 24, 2013
All over 49000 gallons per 1,000 gal $6.30 $6.30 Sep 24, 2013



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

20

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Sewer only:
Base Charge for sewer per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $30.00 $30.00 July 1, 2016
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $5.40 $5.94 Sep 24, 2013
10-49000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $5.60 $6.16 Sep 24, 2013
All over 49000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $5.80 $6.38 Sep 24, 2013

Water only Irrigation Outside City Limits:
Base Charge for water per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $30.00 $30.00 July 1, 2016
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.50 $4.50 Sep 24, 2013
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.70 $4.70 Sep 24, 2013
20-49000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $5.20 $5.20 Sep 24, 2013
All over 49000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $6.30 $6.30 Sep 24, 2013

Note *Industrial Customers located within Gateway or Holland Industrial Park requires an Industrial Pretreatment Permit.
Industrial Customers

Water and Sewer for Outside City Limits:
Water:
Base Charge for water per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $12.00 N/A Sep 24, 2013
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.30 $4.30 Sep 24, 2013
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.50 $4.50 Sep 24, 2013
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.70 $4.70 Sep 24, 2013
Sewer:
Base Charge for sewer per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $12.00 N/A Sep 24, 2013
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $5.20 $5.20 Sep 24, 2013
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $5.40 $5.40 Sep 24, 2013
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $5.60 $5.60 Sep 24, 2013
Water Only:
Base Charge for water per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $24.00 N/A Sep 24, 2013
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.30 $4.30 Sep 24, 2013
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.50 $4.50 Sep 24, 2013
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.70 $4.70 Sep 24, 2013
Sewer Only:
Base Charge for sewer per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $24.00 N/A Sep 24, 2013
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $5.20 $5.20 Sep 24, 2013
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $5.40 $5.40 Sep 24, 2013
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $5.60 $5.60 Sep 24, 2013



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

21

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Commercial Customers
Water and Sewer for Outside City Limits:

Water:
Base Charge for water per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $12.75 N/A July 1, 2016
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $3.90 $3.90 Sep 24, 2013
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.05 $4.05 Sep 24, 2013
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.20 $4.20 Sep 24, 2013
Sewer:
Base Charge for sewer per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $12.75 N/A July 1, 2016
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.60 $4.96 Sep 24, 2013
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.70 $5.07 Sep 24, 2013
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.85 $5.23 Sep 24, 2013
Water Only:
Base Charge for water per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $25.50 N/A July 1, 2016
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $3.90 $3.90 Sep 24, 2013
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.05 $4.05 Sep 24, 2013
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.20 $4.20 Sep 24, 2013
Sewer Only:
Base Charge for sewer per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $25.50 N/A July 1, 2016
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.60 $4.96 Sep 24, 2013
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.70 $5.07 Sep 24, 2013
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4.85 $5.23 Sep 24, 2013

Governmental Customers 
Water and Sewer for Outside City Limits:

Water:
Base Charge for water per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $18.00 N/A Sep 24, 2013
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $5.40 $6.89 Sep 24, 2013
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $5.70 $7.20 Sep 24, 2013
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $6.00 $7.52 Sep 24, 2013
Sewer:
Base Charge for sewer per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $18.00 N/A Sep 24, 2013
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $6.50 $6.50 Sep 24, 2013
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $6.80 $6.80 Sep 24, 2013
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $7.10 $7.10 Sep 24, 2013



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

22

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Water Only:
Base Charge for water per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $36.00 N/A Sep 24, 2013
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $5.40 $5.40 Sep 24, 2013
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $5.70 $5.70 Sep 24, 2013
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $6.00 $6.00 Sep 24, 2013
Sewer Only:
Base Charge for sewer per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $36.00 N/A Sep 24, 2013
See Chart A: "Base Rates by Meter Size" at the end of Water and Sewer Fund Section City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 N/A See Chart July 1, 2023
0-9000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $6.50 $6.89 Sep 24, 2013
10-19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $6.80 $7.20 Sep 24, 2013
All over 19000 gallons per 1,000 gal City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $7.10 $7.52 Sep 24, 2013
Note

Chart A: Base Rates by Meter Size

Meter Size (in inches) Base Rate (in dollars)
3/4 9.00
1 11.52
1 1/4 15.84
1 1/2 18.72
2 25.92
3 50.40

Base Charges for accounts served by a Master Water Meter shall be calculated by multiplying the number of entities served times the appropriate Base Charge.

                                                                                                                  Base Rates by Meter Size

10 360.00

4 90.00
6 180.00
8 270.00



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

23

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Fee Credits:
Elderly/Low Income Credit   Monthly Fee Reduction To Bill For Resolution 2016-07 $2.00 $5.00 Aug 02, 2016
     Residential Domestic Accounts Inside the City
Elderly/Low Income Credit   Monthly Fee Reduction To Bill For Resolution 2016-07 $4.00 $10.00 Aug 02, 2016
     Residential Domestic Accounts Outside the City

Miscellaneous Material, Equipment and Labor Charges:
For damages to water and sewer infrastructure caused by others:

Two-man Service Crew and Truck City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $55.00 per hour $75.00 per hour > 11 Years
Backhoe and Operator City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $65.00 per hour $75.00 per hour > 11 Years
Supervisor and Truck City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $35.00 per hour $40.00 per hour > 11 Years
Laborer City Ordinance Sec 82-34 $16.00 per hour $20.00 per hour > 11 Years

Reclaimed Water- GSU
Intergovernmental Agreement with GSU for Reclaimed Water:

Base Charge for water 0-6,600,000 gallons per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $4,356.00 $4,356.00 Sep 24, 2013
6,600,001 - 15,000,000 gallons extra per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $0.56 $0.56 Sep 24, 2013
All Over 15,000,000 gallons extra per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $1.50 $1.50 Sep 24, 2013

Other than GSU Reclaimed Water:
Base Charge per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $18.00 $18.00 Sep 24, 2013
All Usage per 1,000 gallons per month City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $1.50 $1.50 Sep 24, 2013
Note *Supplemental water when Reclaimed water is not available shall be at the lowest billing tier for irrigation of water inside City limits.

Sewer Tap Fees Inside City Limits:
4" Sewer (R-6;R-8;R-10;R-15;R-20:R-30;R-40;or R-3 if installed by devel) City Ordinance Sec 82-62; Sec 82-63 $200.00 $200.00 Sep 24, 2013
4" Sewer City Ordinance Sec 82-62; Sec 82-63 $600.00 $600.00 Sep 24, 2013
6" Sewer City Ordinance Sec 82-62; Sec 82-63 $1,190.00 $1,190.00 Sep 24, 2013
8" Sewer City Ordinance Sec 82-62; Sec 82-63 $2,975.00 $2,975.00 Sep 24, 2013

Sewer Tap Fees Outside City Limits:
4" Sewer (R-6;R-8;R-10;R-15;R-20:R-30;R-40;or R-3 if installed by devel) City Ordinance Sec 82-62; Sec 82-63 $300.00 $300.00 Sep 24, 2013
4" Sewer City Ordinance Sec 82-62; Sec 82-63 $900.00 $900.00 Sep 24, 2013
6" Sewer City Ordinance Sec 82-62; Sec 82-63 $1,785.00 $1,785.00 Sep 24, 2013
8" Sewer City Ordinance Sec 82-62; Sec 82-63 $4,463.00 $4,463.00 Sep 24, 2013
Note
Example  20 apartments served by a single Sewer Tap Inside City Limits  

20 apartments served by a single Sewer Tap Outside City Limits 
Aid To Construction Fees (ATC Fees) ***

Note *** $3.20 per gallon of sewer per day as calculated based upon ordinance.

Sewer Tap to serve more than one residential, apartment, business or commercial unit shall be calculated by multiplying the number of units served times the Fee for a 4" Sewer Tap.  See Example Below.



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

24

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Water Tap Fees Inside City Limits
3/4"Water(R-6;R-8;R-10;R-15;R-20:R-30;R-40;orR-3 if installed by Developer) City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $950.00 $950.00 Sep 24, 2013
3/4" Water City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $1,220.00 $1,220.00 Sep 24, 2013
1" Water City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $1,520.00 $1,520.00 Sep 24, 2013
1 1/2" Water City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $2,740.00 $2,740.00 Sep 24, 2013
2" Water City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $3,800.00 $3,800.00 Sep 24, 2013
3" Water City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $5,320.00 $5,320.00 Sep 24, 2013
4" Water City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $8,365.00 $8,365.00 Sep 24, 2013
6" Water City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $12,930.00 $12,930.00 Sep 24, 2013
8" Water City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $19,010.00 $19,010.00 Sep 24, 2013
10" Water City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $23,575.00 $23,575.00 Sep 24, 2013
2" Fire Service City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $3,800.00 $3,800.00 Sep 24, 2013
3" Fire Service City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $5,320.00 $5,320.00 Sep 24, 2013
4" Fire Service City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $8,365.00 $8,365.00 Sep 24, 2013
6" Fire Service City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $12,930.00 $12,930.00 Sep 24, 2013
8" Fire Service City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $19,010.00 $19,010.00 Sep 24, 2013
10" Fire Service City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $23,575.00 $23,575.00 Sep 24, 2013
12" Fire Service City Ordinance Sec 82-62 N/A $28,575.00 Jul 01, 2023

Water Tap Fees Outside City Limits
3/4"Water(R-6;R-8;R-10;R-15;R-20:R-30;R-40;or R-3 if installed by devel) City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $1,428.00 $1,428.00 Sep 24, 2013
3/4" Water City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $1,825.00 $1,825.00 Sep 24, 2013
1" Water City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $2,280.00 $2,280.00 Sep 24, 2013
1 1/2" Water City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $4,110.00 $4,110.00 Sep 24, 2013
2" Water City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $5,700.00 $5,700.00 Sep 24, 2013
3" Water City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $7,895.00 $7,895.00 Sep 24, 2013
4" Water City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $12,550.00 $12,550.00 Sep 24, 2013
6" Water City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $19,390.00 $19,390.00 Sep 24, 2013
8" Water City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $28,515.00 $28,515.00 Sep 24, 2013
10" Water City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $35,360.00 $35,360.00 Sep 24, 2013
2" Fire Service City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $5,700.00 $5,700.00 Sep 24, 2013
3" Fire Service City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $7,895.00 $7,895.00 Sep 24, 2013
4" Fire Service City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $12,550.00 $12,550.00 Sep 24, 2013
6" Fire Service City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $19,390.00 $19,390.00 Sep 24, 2013
8" Fire Service City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $28,515.00 $28,515.00 Sep 24, 2013
10" Fire Service City Ordinance Sec 82-62 $35,360.00 $35,360.00 Sep 24, 2013
12" Fire Service City Ordinance Sec 82-62 N/A $42,862.00 Jul 01, 2023



City of Statesboro Schedule 
of Fees, Rates and Fines 

For FY 2024

25

Fee Description:
Government                                

Statute
FY 2023                

(Adopted)
FY 2024                

(Adopted)
Last Known          

Increase

Temporary Water Service From Fire Hydrants:
A refundable security deposit per meter set will be charged City Ordinance Sec 82-4 $700.00 $700.00 Sep 24, 2013
A one time service fee to set each meter will be charged City Ordinance Sec 82-4 $60.00 $60.00 Sep 24, 2013
Note Actual water usage will be charged and billed using the applicable water rate schedule as determined by the Water/Sewer Superintendent.

Septic Tank Hauler Sewer Fees (Approved):
Regular/Single Family Septic Fee per 1000 gallon truck capacity City Ordinance Sec 82-196 $65.00 $65.00 Sep 24, 2013
Grease Trap Grey Water Septic Fee per 1000 gal. truck capacity or discharge City Ordinance Sec 82-196 $65.00 $65.00 Sep 24, 2013
Fees for Portable Toilets per load (maximum 500 gallon per load) City Ordinance Sec 82-196 $37.50 $37.50 Sep 24, 2013

Water Testing Fees:
All City of Statesboro Water Customers City Ordinance Sec 82-113 N/A N/A > 15 Years
For all others City Ordinance Sec 82-113 $100.00 $100.00 > 15  Years

Water Service Fee: City Ordinance Sec 82-65:Sec 82-66 $30.00 $30.00 July 1, 2015
Return Trip Service Fees:

Deposit & AEC Charges:
Account Establishment Charge: City Ordinance Sec 82-61 $40.00 $40.00 July 1, 2015
Water Deposit City Ordinance Sec 82-70 $85.00 $85.00 > 11 Years
Irrigation Deposit City Ordinance Sec 82-70 $85.00 $85.00 > 11 Years

Non Payment Collection Fee: City Ordinance Sec 82-70 $75.00 $75.00 July 1, 2015
Return Check Fee City Ordinance Sec 82-70 $35.00 $35.00 > 11 Years
5 Day Cleaning Turn On Fee plus consumption: City Ordinance Sec 82-70 July 1, 2015

Note Charges shall be the sum of water base charge + sewer base charge + sanitation charge + service fee + consumption.
Note:  The Fire Sprinkler Systems Fee is to cover the cost of inspections made by the Fire Department.  The fire department sends a copy of the report to the Water/Sewer Department

in case EPD needs to review them.  The two departments work together to set the rate.
Note:  Irrigation rates are the same for all classifications.

Late Payments:
The late payment charge referenced in Section 66-6(e) of the solid waste ordinance, in Section 82-38(b) of the natural gas utility ordinance, in Section 82-70 (b) of 
the water service utility ordinance, section 82068 of sanitation sewer utility service and in Section 82-271 of the Stormwater ordinance shall be 10% of the outstanding principal balance.

Unless otherwise agreed to in writing by an obligor or otherwise provided for by general law or ordinance, obligations for the payment of money to City that arise out of a 
transaction to sell or furnish, or the sale of, or furnishing of, goods or services by the city to an obligor are commercial accounts, and shall be assessed the maximum rate of interest allowed for
 commercial accounts as provided for in O.C.G.A. 7-4-16.  However, utility accounts that are assessed a 10% late charge shall not be charged the maximum rate of interest allowed for commercial 
accounts as provided for in O.C.G.A. 7-4-16.

Note:   There will be a $50.00 fee for each additional trip that service personnel have to make to turn water service on, where the meter indicates that water may be flowing in the house and no one is at home to turn the water off.  Under 
these circumstances, the City personnel have no choice but to cut the service back off to protect from possible flooding of the building.  They then must return at a later time to turn the service back on.



STATESBORO MUNICIPAL COURT
FINES LIST

FY 2024

GA0160100

26

Violation Code Description Total Fines
15-50 FAILURE TO HAVE CONTROL OF VEHICLE $455.00
16-10-25 GIVING FALSE NAME/ADDR/DOB TO OFFICER $745.00
16-11-36 LOITERING OR PROWLING $745.00
16-11-39 DISORDERLY CONDUCT $745.00
16-13-30(J) mis POSSESSION OF MARIJUANA LESS THAN AN OUN $1,098.00
16-13-30(J)(1) POSSESSION OF MARIJUANA MORE THAN 1 OZ $1,098.00
16-13-30(J)(1) POSSESSION OF MARIJUANA MORE THAN 1 OZ $1,098.00
16-13-30(J)mis POSSESSION OF MARIJUANA LESS THAN AN OUN $1,098.00
16-13-32.2 POSSESSION OF DRUG RELATED OBJECTS $530.00
16-13-32.2(A) POSSESSION OF DRUG RELATED OBJECT $530.00
16-7-43 LITTERING $185.00
16-8-14 SHOPLIFTING $745.00
16-8-14 (1ST) THEFT BY SHOPLIFTING MISD $745.00
16-8-14 (2ND) THEFT BY SHOPLIFING - 2ND - MISDEMEANOR $745.00
16-9-4 FALSE/FICITIOUS/ALTERED ID $745.00
18-234-4 REMOVAL OF IMPROPERLY PARKED VEHICLE(S) $660.00
18-238-8 SURVEILLANCE OF PROPERTY FOR TOWING $660.00
18-240-10 TOWING VIOLATION $745.00
18-241 TOWING COMPLIANCE $1,000.00
18-244 WRECKER MUST FOLLOW TRAFFIC LAWS $162.00
11212203.3 PARKING AND STORAGE OF CERTAIN VEHICLES $162.00
25-10-2 FIREWORKS PROHIBITED $745.00
3-3-23 SALE OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES TO MINOR $455.00
3-3-23(A)(1) FURNISHING ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES TO PERSO $455.00
3-3-23(A)(2) OP POSSESSION OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE WHILE O $605.00
3-3-23(A)(2) OP POSSESSION OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE WHILE O $605.00
3-3-23(A)(2) PU ATTEMPT/PURCHASE ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE - UN $455.00
3-3-23(A)(3) MISREPRESENTING AGE TO OBTAIN ALCOHOLIC $605.00
3-3-23(A)(4) NO PERSON SHALL PUR ALCOH FOR UNDERAGE P $455.00
3-3-23(A)(5) MISREPRESENTING IDENTITY OR FALSE ID TO $605.00
3-3-23.1 CONTRIBUTING ALCOHOL TO PERSONS UNDER 21 $455.00
3-3-23.1 UNLAWFUL SALE OF ALOHOLIC BEVERAGE $455.00
3-3-23.1 (CON) POSSESSION OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE BY PERS $605.00
3-3-23.1(A) ALCOHOL- UNDERAGE CONSUMPTION/PURCHASE/P $605.00
3-3-23A2C POSSESSION OF ALCOHOL BY MINOR $605.00
3-3-23A2C POSSESSION OF ALCOHOL BY MINOR $605.00
1162307 BURNING W/O A PERMIT (INT.FIRE CODE) $162.00
38-102 LOUD NOISE WHICH ANNOYS, DISTRUBS OR END $162.00
38-103 NOISE ORDINANCE (VEHICLE/RESIDENCE) CITY $162.00
38-103 (2ND) NOISE ORDINANCE 2ND OFFENSE $278.00
38-26 NUISANCE DEFINED 38-26-(8) $70.00
38-28 (c)1 UNFIT BLDG/STRUCTURE $250.00
38-43 DELAPIDATED BLDG - UNFITNESS $70.00
40-1-3 PERMITTING UNLAWFUL OPERATION OF VEHICLE $162.00
40-1-8(G) VIOLATION OF OUT OF SERVICE ORDER $162.00
40-13-2.1 REFUSAL TO SIGN CITATION(Georgia License $162.00
40-2-140(c) GA INTERSTATE MOTOR CARRIER REGISTRATION $162.00
40-2-20 DRIVING WITHOUT A TAG $162.00
40-2-21 30 DAYS TO TRANSFER TAG $162.00
40-2-28 OPERATING AN UNREGISTERED TRAILER(NO TAG $162.00
40-2-29 NO REGISTRTATION/TAG $162.00
40-2-38 IMPROPER USE OF DEALER TAG $162.00
40-2-41 OBSCURRED OR MISSING LICENSE PLATES $162.00
40-2-42 IMPROPER TRANSFER OF LICENSE PLATE/DECAL $162.00
40-2-5 TAGS: USE OF TAG TO CONCEAL IDENTITY $162.00
40-2-6 TAGS: ALTERATION/IMPROPER PLATES $162.00
40-2-6.1 OBSCURING LICENSE PLATE $162.00
40-2-7 TAGS: REMOVING/AFFIXING TAG W/INTENT $162.00
40-2-8 EXPIRED TAG $162.00
40-2-8 NEWRES NEW RESIDENT MUST REGISTER IN GEORIGA WI $162.00
40-2-8(B)(1) DRIVING W/O PLATE/CURRENT REV. DECAL $162.00
40-2-8(B)(2) TAGS: NEW RESIDENT HAS 30 DAYS TO REG. $162.00
40-2-8.1 OPERATING VEH. W/O REQ. DECAL AFFIXED $162.00
40-2-88 OPERATING W/O IRP REGISTRATION $162.00
40-2-90 OPERATION OF VEHICLE REGISTERED IN OTHER $162.00
40-2-90B NEW RESIDENT HAS 30 DAYS TO OBTAIN TAG $162.00
40-2-90B1 IMPROPER REG. OF VEHICLE $162.00
40-5-120 UNLAWFUL USE OF LICENSE OR IDENTIFICATIO $745.00



STATESBORO MUNICIPAL COURT
FINES LIST

FY 2024

GA0160100

27

Violation Code Description Total Fines
40-5-120(3) POSSESSION OF FALSE OR FICTIOUS LICENSE $745.00
40-5-121 DRIVING WHILE LIC. SUSP/REVOKED 1ST OFFENSE $745.00
40-5-121 DRIVING WHILE LIC. SUSP/REVOKED 2ND OFFENSE $1,395.00
40-5-121 DRIVING WHILE LIC. SUSP/REVOKED 3RD OFFENSE $2,045.00
40-5-121 DRIVING WHILE LIC. SUSP/REVOKED 4TH OFFENSE $2,695.00
40-5-121 DRIVING WHILE LIC. SUSP/REVOKED 5TH OFFENSE $3,345.00
40-5-122 LICENSE: PERMIT UNLIC. PERSON TO DRIVE $162.00
40-5-123 LICENSE: PERMIT UNAUTH. MINOR TO DRIVE $162.00
40-5-125 LICENSE: POSSESSION OF FRAUDULANT LIC. $162.00
40-5-146 DRIVING A COMMERCIAL VEHICLE WITHOUT A V $162.00
40-5-149 EXPIRED OR NO DRIVERS LICENSE $62.00
40-5-20 DRIVING WITHOUT A VALID LICENSE $745.00
40-5-20 REGISTRATION/LICENSE OF VEHICLE $162.00
40-5-20 1ST DRIVING ON EXPIRED LICENSE $162.00
40-5-20 EXP DRIVING WITH AN EXPIRED DRIVERS LICENSE $162.00
40-5-20A NO VALID LICENSE $745.00
40-5-20B ALLOWING UNLICENSED PERSON TO DRIVE $162.00
40-5-23 WRONG CLASS OF DRIVERS LICENSE $162.00
40-5-24 INSTRUCTION/GRADUATED/TEMP LICENSE $162.00
40-5-24(A)(1) VIOL. OF CLASS CP LICENSE RESTRICTION $162.00
40-5-24A VIOLATION OF CLASS D LICENSE $162.00
40-5-24A1 VIOLATION OF CLASS CP LICENSE $162.00
40-5-24C VIOLATION OF CLASS MP LICENSE $162.00
40-5-29 LICENSE: DRIVING W/O LICENSE ON PERSON $62.00
40-5-29A NO LICENSE ON PERSON $62.00
40-5-29B LICENSE TO BE EXAMINED ON DEMAND $162.00
40-5-30 VIOLATING RESTRICTIONS OF DRIVER LICENSE $162.00
40-5-30(C) DRIVING IN VIOLATION OF LICENSE RESTRICT $162.00
40-5-32 EXPIRED OR NO DRIVER'S LICENSE $162.00
40-5-33 LICENSE: 60 DAYS TO CHANGE NAME/ADDRESS $162.00
40-5-45(A) IMPROPER PASSING (WITHIN 100 FT OF INT.) $162.00
40-5-58(6)(A)(i VIOLATION OF HV PROBATIONARY LICENSE $745.00
40-5-64 LICENSE: VIOLATION OF COND. OF PERMIT $162.00
40-5-67 DRIVING IN VIOLATION OF CONDITION OF PER $162.00
40-5-75 SUSP. LICENSE FOR PERSON CONVICTED OF VG $745.00
40-6-10 NO INSURANCE $745.00
40-6-10A NO PROOF OF INSURANCE $745.00
40-6-11 MOTORCYCLE: NO INSURANCE $745.00
40-6-11C MOTORCYCLE: NO PROOF OF INSURANCE $74.00
40-6-120 IMPROPER TURN $162.00
40-6-120A1 IMPROPER RIGHT TURN $162.00
40-6-120A2 IMPROPER LEFT TURN $162.00
40-6-120B FAILURE TO OBEY TURNING DEVICE $162.00
40-6-121 IMPROPER U-TURN $162.00
40-6-121 (1) IMPROPER U-TURN (CURVE) $162.00
40-6-121 (3) IMPROPER U-TURN $162.00
40-6-122 STARTING PARKED VEHICLE UNSAFELY $162.00
40-6-123 FAIL TO SIGNAL LANE CHANGE OR TURN $162.00
40-6-123(A) IMPROPER LANE CHANGE $162.00
40-6-123(C) IMPROPER STOPPING ON ROADWAY $162.00
40-6-123A IMPROPER/ERRATIC LANE CHANGE W/ ACC $162.00
40-6-123C IMPROPER STOPPING ON ROADWAY $162.00
40-6-124 FAIL TO USE SIGNAL/IMPROPER SIGNAL $162.00
40-6-125 IMPROPER USE OF HAND SIGNALS $162.00
40-6-126 IMPROPER USE OF CENTRAL TURN LANE $162.00
40-6-14 NOISE VIOLATION (LOUD MUSIC FR. VEHICLE) 1ST OFFENSE $162.00
40-6-14 NOISE VIOLATION (LOUD MUSIC FR. VEHICLE) 2ND OFFENSE $278.00
40-6-14 NOISE VIOLATION (LOUD MUSIC FR. VEHICLE) 3RD OFFENSE $511.00
40-6-140 FAIL TO STOP AT RAILROAD CROSSING $162.00
40-6-140(b) FAILURE TO OBEY RR GRADE CROSSING RESTRI $162.00
40-6-140(c) FAILURE TO OBEY RR GRADY CROSSING RESTRI $162.00
40-6-140(d) FAILURE TO SLOW FOR RR GRADE CROSSING $162.00
40-6-140(e) DRIVING OVER RR GRADE CROSSING WHEN TRAI $162.00
40-6-140(f) DRIVING OVER RR GRADE CROSSING WITHOUT S $162.00
40-6-140(g) DRIVING OVER RR GRADE CROSSING WITHOUT S $162.00
40-6-140B DISREGARDING R.R. CROSSING BARRIER $162.00
40-6-141 FAILURE TO STOP AT STOP SIGN AT R-R XING $162.00
40-6-144 DRIVER/YIELD/SIDEWALK $162.00
40-6-144 DRIVING ON SIDEWALK $162.00



STATESBORO MUNICIPAL COURT
FINES LIST

FY 2024

GA0160100

28

Violation Code Description Total Fines
40-6-15 DRIVING WITH SUSPENDED REGISTRATION $745.00
40-6-161 HEADLIGHTS REQUIRED (SCHOOL BUS) $162.00
40-6-161(A) HEADLIGHTS REQUIRED WHEN TRANSPORTING CH $162.00
40-6-163 FAIL TO STOP FOR SCHL BUS LOADING/UNLOAD $745.00
40-6-163(A) FAILURE TO STOP FOR SCHOOL BUS LOADING A $745.00
40-6-16B PASSING STATIONARY EMERGENCY VEHICLE $745.00
40-6-180 TOO FAST FOR CONDITIONS $162.00
40-6-181 SPEEDING 00-14 OVER $185.00
40-6-181 SPEEDING 15-18 OVER $220.00
40-6-181 SPEEDING 19-23 OVER $255.00
40-6-181 SPEEDING 24-99 OVER $745.00
40-6-184 IMPEDING TRAFFIC FLOW $162.00
40-6-184(C) IMPEDING FLOW OF TRAFFIC $162.00
40-6-186 RACING ON HIGHWAYS OR STREETS $745.00
40-6-2 FAILURE TO OBEY PERSON DIRECTING TRAFFIC $162.00
40-6-20 DISOBEY TRAFFIC CONTROL DEVICE $162.00
40-6-200 IMPROPER PARKING $162.00
40-6-200A IMPROPER PARKING $162.00
40-6-201 LEAVING VEHICLE UNATTENDED $162.00
40-6-202 STOP/STAND/PARK OUTSIDE BUS/RES DISTRICT $162.00
40-6-202 ILLEGAL PARKING $162.00
40-6-203 IMPROPER STOPPING/PARKING ON ROADWAY $162.00
40-6-203(A)(2)( IMPROPERLY PARKING IN FRONT OF A DRIVEWA $162.00
40-6-205 OBSTRUCTING AN INTERSECTION $162.00
40-6-222 HANDICAPPED PARKING VIOLATION-PERMIT $190.00
40-6-226 VIOLATION OF HANDICAPPED PARKING $190.00
40-6-23 VIOLATION OF FLASHING RED SIGNAL $162.00
40-6-23 VIOLATION OF FLASHING YELLOW SIGNAL $162.00
40-6-24 LANE DIRECTION VIOLATION $162.00
40-6-240 IMPROPER BACKING $162.00
40-6-241 FAILURE TO EXERCISE DUE CARE $50.00
40-6-241(B) FAILURE TO EXERCISE DUE CARE $50.00
40-6-241B FAILURE TO EXERCISE DUE CARE $50.00
40-6-241C UNLAWFUL USE OF WIRELESS DEVICE 1ST OFFENSE 50.00
40-6-241D UNLAWFUL USE OF WIRELESS DEVICE IN CMV 1ST OFFENSE $50.00
40-6-241D UNLAWFUL USE OF WIRELESS DEVICE IN CMV 2ND OFFENSE $100.00
40-6-241D UNLAWFUL USE OF WIRELESS DEVICE IN CMV 3RD OFFENSE $150.00
40-6-242(B) PASSENGER SHALL NOT INTERFER WITH THE DRIVER $162.00
40-6-243 OPENNING DOORS TO MOVING TRAFFIC $162.00
40-6-244 UNSAFE OPERATION OF VEHICLE $162.00
40-6-246 COASTING PROHIBITED $162.00
40-6-248 IMPROPER LANE/LOC ON FIRE HOSE $745.00
40-6-248.1 FAILURE TO SECURE LOAD $162.00
40-6-249 LITTERING HIGHWAY $185.00
40-6-250 DEVICE WORN THAT IMPAIRS HEARING/VISION $162.00
40-6-251 LAYING DRAG OR RECKLESS CONDUCT W/AUTO $745.00
40-6-253 CONSUMPTION/POSSESSION OF ALCOHOL $325.00
40-6-254 FAILURE TO SECURE LOAD $162.00
40-6-255 GASOLINE DRIVE-OFF $745.00
40-6-26(B) DRIVING ON CLOSED ROADWAY $162.00
40-6-26B DRIVING ON HIGHWAY CLOSED TO PUBLIC $162.00
40-6-270 LEAVING SCENE OF ACCIDENT/HIT & RUN $745.00
40-6-271 DUTY UPON STRIKING UNATTENDED VEHICLE $745.00
40-6-272 STRIKING FIXED OBJECT $745.00
40-6-273 FAIL TO REPORT ACCIDENT $745.00
40-6-291 TRAFFIC LAWS APPLY TO BICYCLES ON ROAD $162.00
40-6-292 NO RIDING ON HANDLEBARS OF BICYCLE $162.00
40-6-292(A) RIDING ON HANDLEBARS PROHIBITED(BICYCLES $162.00
40-6-293 PERSON ON BIKE/SKATES/WAGON CLING TO VEH $162.00
40-6-294 BICYCLE MUST BE ON RIGHT SIDE OF ROADWAY $162.00
40-6-294(c) PERSONS RIDING BICYCLES UPON A ROADWAY S $162.00
40-6-294B BICYCLE: MORE THAN 2 ABREAST ON ROAD $162.00
40-6-296 BICYCLE: EQUIPMENT REQUIREMENT $162.00
40-6-296A LIGHTS/REFLECTORS ON BICYCLE $162.00
40-6-297(b) VIOLATE SAFETY EQUIPMENT OR STANDARDS FO $162.00
40-6-298 BICYCLE: ALLOWING CHILD TO VIOLATE LAW $162.00
40-6-31 FAILURE TO DIM HEADLIGHTS $162.00
40-6-310 TRAFFIC LAWS APPLICABLE TO MOTORCYCLES $162.00
40-6-311 UNSAFE OPERATION OF MOTORCYCLE $162.00



STATESBORO MUNICIPAL COURT
FINES LIST

FY 2024

GA0160100

29

Violation Code Description Total Fines
40-6-311(E) OPERATOR AND PASSENGERS MUST WEAR SHOE $162.00
40-6-311A REGULAR SEATS-MOTORCYCLE $162.00
40-6-311C CARRYING ARTICLE, HANDS NOT ON HANDLEBAR $162.00
40-6-312 MOTORCYCLE LANE VIOLATION $162.00
40-6-312(B) PASSING IN SAME LANE AS ANOTHER VEHICLE $162.00
40-6-312(C) OPERATING BETWEEN LANES OF TRAFFIC PROHI $162.00
40-6-312(D) MORE THAN TWO ABREAST IN A SINGLE LANE P $162.00
40-6-312(E) MUST HAVE HEADLIGHT AND TAILLIGHT ON WHI $162.00
40-6-314(A) MUST BE EQUIPPED WITH FOOTREST FOR PASSENGER $162.00
40-6-314(B) HANDLEBARS MORE THAN 15"" ABOVE SEAT AND $162.00
40-6-315 OPERATING MOTORCYLE W/O EYE PROTECTION $162.00
40-6-315(A) OPERATOR AND PASSENGER MUST HAVE HELMET $162.00
40-6-315(B) OPERATOR AND PASSENGER MUST HAVE EYE PRO $162.00
40-6-315A NO HELMET (MOTORCYCLE) $162.00
40-6-315B MOTORCYCLE: MUST HAVE EYE PROTECTION $162.00
40-6-315E MOTORCYCLE: MUST WEAR SHOES $162.00
40-6-331 MOTORIZED CART VIOLATION $162.00
40-6-350 TRAFFIC LAWS APPLICABLE TO MOPEDS $162.00
40-6-351 LICENSE: MOPED OPERATORS NEED LICENSE $162.00
40-6-352 OPERATOR OF MOPED MUST HAVE A HELMET $162.00
40-6-390 RECKLESS DRIVING $795.00
40-6-391 DUI ALOCHOL/DRUGS 1ST OFFENSE $1,576.00
40-6-391 DUI ALOCHOL/DRUGS 2ND OFFENSE $1,900.00
40-6-391 DUI ALOCHOL/DRUGS 3RD OFFENSE $2,800.00
40-6-391 (L) ENDANGERING A CHILD WHILE D.U.I. $1,576.00
40-6-391(A)(1) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE-LESS SAFE-AL 1ST OFF. $1,576.00
40-6-391(A)(1) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE-LESS SAFE-AL 2ND OFF. $1,900.00
40-6-391(A)(1) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE-LESS SAFE-AL 3RD OFF. $2,800.00
40-6-391(A)(2) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE-LESS SAFE-DR 1ST OFF. $1,576.00
40-6-391(A)(2) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE-LESS SAFE-DR 2ND OFF. $1,900.00
40-6-391(A)(2) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE-LESS SAFE-DR 3RD OFF. $2,800.00
40-6-391(A)(3) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE-GLUE OR OTHE 1ST OFF. $1,576.00
40-6-391(A)(3) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE-GLUE OR OTHE 2ND OFF. $1,900.00
40-6-391(A)(3) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE-GLUE OR OTHE 3RD OFF. $2,800.00
40-6-391(A)(4) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE-COMBINATION 1ST OFF. $1,576.00
40-6-391(A)(4) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE-COMBINATION 2ND OFF. $1,900.00
40-6-391(A)(4) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE-COMBINATION 3RD OFF. $2,800.00
40-6-391(A)(4) DUI-COMBINATION OF 1-3 1ST OFFENSE $1,576.00
40-6-391(A)(4) DUI-COMBINATION OF 1-3 2ND OFFENSE $1,900.00
40-6-391(A)(4) DUI-COMBINATION OF 1-3 3RD OFFENSE $2,800.00
40-6-391(A)(5) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE .08 GMS. OR 1ST OFFENSE $1,576.00
40-6-391(A)(5) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE .08 GMS. OR 2ND OFFENSE $1,900.00
40-6-391(A)(5) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE .08 GMS. OR 3RD OFFENSE $2,800.00
40-6-391(A)(5) DUI-.08 OR MORE 1ST OFFENSE $1,576.00
40-6-391(A)(5) DUI-.08 OR MORE 2ND OFFENSE $1,900.00
40-6-391(A)(5) DUI-.08 OR MORE 3RD OFFENSE $2,800.00
40-6-391(A)(6) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE-DRUGS 1ST OFFENSE $1,576.00
40-6-391(A)(6) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE-DRUGS 2ND OFFENSE $1,900.00
40-6-391(A)(6) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE-DRUGS 3RD OFFENSE $2,800.00
40-6-391(A)(6) DUI-DRUGS 1ST OFFENSE $1,576.00
40-6-391(A)(6) DUI-DRUGS 2ND OFFENSE $1,900.00
40-6-391(A)(6) DUI-DRUGS 3RD OFFENSE $2,800.00
40-6-391(I) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE / COMMERCIAL 1ST OFF. $1,576.00
40-6-391(I) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE / COMMERCIAL 2ND OFF. $1,900.00
40-6-391(I) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE / COMMERCIAL 3RD OFF. $2,800.00
40-6-391(K)(1) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE-UNDER 21 YEA 1ST OFF. $1,576.00
40-6-391(K)(1) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE-UNDER 21 YEA 2ND OFF. $1,900.00
40-6-391(K)(1) DRIVING UNDER THE INFLUENCE-UNDER 21 YEA 3RD OFF. $2,800.00
40-6-391(K)(1) DUI: ENDANGERING A CHILD 1ST OFFENSE $1,576.00
40-6-391(K)(1) DUI: ENDANGERING A CHILD 2ND OFFENSE $1,900.00
40-6-391(K)(1) DUI: ENDANGERING A CHILD 3RD OFFENSE $2,800.00
40-6-391(i) DUI/COMMERCIAL VEHICLE-MORE THAN .04GM. 1ST OFFENSE $1,576.00
40-6-391(i) DUI/COMMERCIAL VEHICLE-MORE THAN .04GM. 2ND OFFENSE $1,900.00
40-6-391(i) DUI/COMMERCIAL VEHICLE-MORE THAN .04GM. 3RD OFFENSE $2,800.00
40-6-391(k)(1) DUI-UNDER 21 YOA; OVER .02 gms $1,576.00
40-6-391A1 DUI - ALCOHOL LESS SAFE 1ST OFFENSE $1,576.00
40-6-391A1 DUI - ALCOHOL LESS SAFE 2ND OFFENSE $1,900.00
40-6-391A1 DUI - ALCOHOL LESS SAFE 3RD OFFENSE $2,800.00
40-6-391A2 DUI - DRUGS LESS SAFE 1ST OFFENSE $1,576.00



STATESBORO MUNICIPAL COURT
FINES LIST

FY 2024

GA0160100

30

Violation Code Description Total Fines
40-6-391A2 DUI - DRUGS LESS SAFE 2ND OFFENSE $1,900.00
40-6-391A2 DUI - DRUGS LESS SAFE 3RD OFFENSE $2,800.00
40-6-391A3 DUI - GLUE/AEROSOL/TOXIC VAPOR LESS SAFE 1ST OFF. $1,576.00
40-6-391A3 DUI - GLUE/AEROSOL/TOXIC VAPOR LESS SAFE 2ND OFF. $1,900.00
40-6-391A3 DUI - GLUE/AEROSOL/TOXIC VAPOR LESS SAFE 3RD OFF. $2,800.00
40-6-391A4 DUI - COMBO ANY COMBINATION OF A1/A2/A3 1ST OFFENSE $1,576.00
40-6-391A4 DUI - COMBO ANY COMBINATION OF A1/A2/A3 2ND OFFENSE $1,900.00
40-6-391A4 DUI - COMBO ANY COMBINATION OF A1/A2/A3 3RD OFFENSE $2,800.00
40-6-391A5 DUI - ALCOHOL 0.08 GM OR MORE,21 OR OVER 1ST OFFENSE $1,576.00
40-6-391A5 DUI - ALCOHOL 0.08 GM OR MORE,21 OR OVER 2ND OFFENSE $1,900.00
40-6-391A5 DUI - ALCOHOL 0.08 GM OR MORE,21 OR OVER 3RD OFFENSE $2,800.00
40-6-392 DUI-REFUSAL 1ST OFFENSE $1,576.00
40-6-392 DUI-REFUSAL 2ND OFFENSE $1,900.00
40-6-392 DUI-REFUSAL 3RD OFFENSE $2,800.00
40-6-395 FLEEING/ATTEMPTING TO ELUDE POLICE $745.00
40-6-395(MISD) FLEEING OR ATTEMPTING TO ELUDE POLICE OF $745.00
40-6-397 AGGRESSIVE DRIVING $745.00
40-6-40 OBSTRUCTING TRAFFIC/FTY ROW $162.00
40-6-40(B) SLOWER VEHICLE MUST KEEP TO THE RIGHT $162.00
40-6-40(D) IMPEDING THE FREE FLOW OF TRAFFIC $162.00
40-6-40A DRIVING WRONG SIDE OF UNDIVIDED STREET $162.00
40-6-40A DRIVING ON THE WRONG SIDE OF UNDIVIDED S $162.00
40-6-40B SLOWER VEH. MUST KEEP TO RIGHT $162.00
40-6-40C LANE VIOLATION $162.00
40-6-40D IMPEDING FLOW BY DRIVING SIDE BY SIDE $162.00
40-6-41 VEHICLE PASSING IN OPPOSITE DIRECTION $162.00
40-6-42 IMPROPER PASSING ON LEFT $162.00
40-6-42(2) DRIVER SHALL NOT INCREASE SPEED WHILE BE $162.00
40-6-42.2 INCREASING SPEED WHILE BEING PASSED $162.00
40-6-43 OVERTAKE AND PASS ON RIGHT $162.00
40-6-43(B) PASSING ON THE SHOULDER OF THE ROADWAY $162.00
40-6-43A IMPROPER PASSING ON RIGHT $162.00
40-6-43B PASSING ON SHOULDER OF ROADWAY $162.00
40-6-44 PASSING W/IN 200 FT. OF ONCOMING TRAFFIC $162.00
40-6-45 IMPROPER PASSING $162.00
40-6-45(A)(1) PASSING ON HILLCREST OR IN A CURVE $162.00
40-6-45(A)(2) PASSING WITHIN 100' OF INTERSECTION OR R $162.00
40-6-45(A)(3) PASSING WITHIN 100' OF BRIDGE, VIADUCT O $162.00
40-6-45A1 PASSING ON HILL OR CURVE $162.00
40-6-45A2 PASSING W/IN 100 FT OF INTERS OR RR-XING $162.00
40-6-45A3 PASSING W/IN 100 FT OF BRIDGE/TUNNEL $162.00
40-6-46 PASSING IN NO-PASSING ZONE $162.00
40-6-46A IMPROPER PASSING IN NO PASSING ZONE $162.00
40-6-46B IMPROPER PASSING $162.00
40-6-47 ONE WAY ROADWAY OR ROTARY TRAFFIC $162.00
40-6-48 FAILURE TO MAINTAIN LANE $162.00
40-6-48(1) UNSAFE LANE CHANGE $162.00
40-6-49 FOLLOWING TOO CLOSELY $162.00
40-6-49(A) FOLLOWING TOO CLOSE $162.00
40-6-50 DRIVING WITHIN A GORE OR MEDIAN (DIVIDED $162.00
40-6-50 EMER LA DRIVING ON DIVIDED HWY/CONTROLLED ACCESS $162.00
40-6-50C DIVIDED-HWY/CTRLD-ACCESS RD/EMERGENCY LN $162.00
40-6-51 RESTRICTION ON CONTROLLED-ACCESS ROAD $162.00
40-6-51(B) VIOLATION OF DOT RESTRICTION ON CONTROLL $162.00
40-6-52(B) TRUCK OVER 6 WHEELS MUST STAY IN THE 2 R $162.00
40-6-52D FAILURE TO KEEP IN PROPER LANE $162.00
40-6-55 FAILURE TO YIELD TO BYCYCLE $162.00
40-6-70 FAIL TO YIELD WHEN ENTERING INTERSECTION $162.00
40-6-71 FAIL TO YIELD WHILE TURNING LEFT $162.00
40-6-72 FAILURE TO OBEY STOP/YIELD SIGN $162.00
40-6-72(B) FAILURE TO STOP AT STOP/YIELD SIGN $162.00
40-6-72(C) FAILURE TO YIELD AT YIELD SIGN $162.00
40-6-72B FAILURE TO STOP AT STOP/YIELD SIGN $162.00
40-6-72C FAIL TO YIELD RIGHT OF WAY AT YIELD SIGN $162.00
40-6-73 FAIL TO YIELD WHEN ENTER/CROSS ROADWAY $162.00
40-6-74 FAILURE TO YIELD TO EMERGENCY VEHICLE $162.00
40-6-74B UNSAFE OPERATION OF EMERGENCY VEHICLE $162.00
40-6-75 FAIL TO YIELD TO CONSTRUCTION VEH/PERSON $162.00
40-6-76 FAIL TO YIELD TO FUNERAL PROCESSION $162.00



STATESBORO MUNICIPAL COURT
FINES LIST

FY 2024

GA0160100

31

Violation Code Description Total Fines
40-6-77 FAIL TO YIELD ROW-AGRICULTURAL/PEDES/CYC $162.00
40-6-90 FAIL TO OBEY TRAF-CTL/REG. BY PEDESTRIAN $162.00
40-6-91(A) FAILURE TO YIELD TO PEDESTRIANS IN CROSS $162.00
40-6-91(B) PEDESTRIAN MUST NOT DART OUT IN TRAFFIC $162.00
40-6-91(D) PASSING VEHICLE STOPPED TO YIELD TO A PE $162.00
40-6-91A FAIL TO YIELD TO PEDESTRIAN AT CROSSWALK $162.00
40-6-91D PASSING A VEH. YIELDING TO PEDESTRIAN $162.00
40-6-92 PED. MUST YIELD IF NOT AT CROSSWALK $162.00
40-6-92C CROSSING ROADWAY ELSEWHERE THAN AT CROSS $162.00
40-6-93 DRIVER MUST USE CARE TO AVOID PEDESTRIAN $162.00
40-6-94 FAIL TO YIELD TO BLIND PEDESTRIAN $162.00
40-6-95 PEDESTRIAN UNDER THE INFLUENCE (P.U.I.) $190.00
40-6-96 PED. MUST WALK ON SIDEWALK/SHOULDER $162.00
40-6-97 PED. MUST NOT SOLICIT RIDE/EMP/BUSINESS $162.00
40-6-98 FAILURE TO OBEY SAFETY ZONE $162.00
40-6-99 PEDESTRIAN YIELD TO EMERGENCY VEHICLE $162.00
40-6-99(A) PEDESTRIAN MUST YIELD TO EMERGENCY VEHIC $162.00
40-6-99A PED. MUST YIELD TO EMERGENCY VEH. $162.00
40-7-3 RIDING OFF-ROAD VEHICLES ON ROADWAY $162.00
40-7-4 OPERATING RESTRICTIONS FOR OFF-ROAD VEHI $162.00
40-8-10 DRIVING VEH. SUPPLIED WITH NITROUS OXIDE $162.00
40-8-20 LIGHTED HEADLIGHTS/OTHER LIGHTS REQUIRED $162.00
40-8-21 WRECKER TOW LIGHTS $162.00
40-8-22 HEADLIGHT REQUIREMENTS $162.00
40-8-22(B) MORE THAN TWO HEADLIGHTS PROHIBITED $162.00
40-8-22(D) HEADLIGHT COVERS PROHIBITED $162.00
40-8-22B MOTORCYCLE: MORE THAN 2 HEADLIGHTS $162.00
40-8-23 TAILLIGHTS/LENSES REQUIRED $162.00
40-8-23(D) TAG LIGHT REQUIREMENTS $162.00
40-8-24 DEFECTIVE OR NO REFLECTORS $162.00
40-8-25 NO BRAKE LIGHTS OR WORKING TURN SIGNALS $162.00
40-8-25(c) NO WORKING TAIL/BRAKE LIGHTS ON TRAILER $162.00
40-8-26 NO OPERATING BRAKE LIGHTS/SIGNALS $162.00
40-8-26D IMPROPER BRAKELIGHT COVERS $162.00
40-8-27 LIGHT/FLAG REQUIRED ON PROJECTING LOAD $162.00
40-8-28 FAILURE TO HAVE LIGHTS ON PARKED VEH. $162.00
40-8-29 SPOTLIGHTS/FOGLIGHTS/AUXILIARY LIGHTS $162.00
40-8-2C FAILURE TO DISPLAY COUNTY DECAL $162.00
40-8-3 VEHICLE OR LOAD DRAGGING ON HIGHWAY $162.00
40-8-30 USE OF MULTIBEAM ROAD LIGHTING EQUIP. $162.00
40-8-31 FAIL TO DIM HEADLIGHTS $162.00
40-8-4 SLOW VEH. MUST HAVE TRIANGULAR WARN DEV. $162.00
40-8-50 BRAKE SYSTEM REQUIRED FOR VEHICLES $162.00
40-8-50(b) IMPROPER BRAKES $162.00
40-8-52 FAIL TO SECURE PARKING/EMERGENCY BRAKE $162.00
40-8-6 OPERATING VEHICLE W/ALTERD SUSPENSION $162.00
40-8-7 DRIVING UNSAFE/IMPROPERLY EQUIPPED VEH. $162.00
40-8-7(A) DEFECTIVE EQUIPMENT $162.00
40-8-7(B) DRIVING UNSAFE VEHICLE $162.00
40-8-70 HORNS OR WARNING DEVICES VIOLATION $162.00
40-8-70(A) NO HORN/ IMPROPER USE OF HORN $162.00
40-8-70(B) ILLEGAL EQUIPMENT/SIREN, WHISTLE, BELL $162.00
40-8-71 IMPROPER EXHAUST SYSTEM $162.00
40-8-72 MIRROR REQUIRED, IF VISION OBSTRUCTED $162.00
40-8-73 DEFECTIVE EQUIPMENT $162.00
40-8-73.1 WINDOW TINT VIOLATION $162.00
40-8-73B WHINDSHIELDS AND/OR WIPERS REQUIRED $162.00
40-8-74 DEFECTIVE TIRES $162.00
40-8-75 TIRE COVERS (MUD FLAPS ON REAR TIRES) $162.00
40-8-76 CHILD OR YOUTH RESTRAINT $50.00
40-8-76(B)(1) CHILD RESTRAINT $50.00
40-8-76.1 SAFETY BELTS VIOLATION (ADULTS) $15.00
40-8-76.1E3 SEAT BELT VIOLATION 8 TO 17 $25.00
40-8-77 DEFECTIVE SHOCK ABSORBERS $162.00
40-8-79 RIDING IN BACK OF PICKUP ON INTERSTATE $162.00
40-8-8 NO WORKING SPEEDOMETER $162.00
40-8-9 FAILURE TO DISPLAY OWNER'S NAME $162.00
40-8-90 OPERATING UNAUTH. VEHICLE W/BLUELIGHTS $162.00
40-8-92 UNAUTHORIZED VEH. WITH RED/AMBER LIGHTS $162.00



STATESBORO MUNICIPAL COURT
FINES LIST

FY 2024

GA0160100

32

Violation Code Description Total Fines
40-8-92(d) OPERATING VEHICLE WITH GREEN LIGHTS FLAS $162.00
40-8-94 UNAUTH. USE OF SIREN/WHISTLES/BELLS $162.00
503.2.1 NO PARKING IN FIRE LANE $162.00
58-12 MARIJUANA LESS THAN 1OZ - LOCAL ORDINANC $500.00
58-13 BEGGING/SOLICITING BY ACCOSTING/FORCING 1ST OFF. $380.00
58-13 BEGGING/SOLICITING BY ACCOSTING/FORCING 2ND OFF. $580.00
58-13 BEGGING/SOLICITING BY ACCOSTING/FORCING 3RD OFF. $780.00
58-14 URINATING OR DEFECATING IN PUBLIC 1ST OFFENSE $380.00
58-14 URINATING OR DEFECATING IN PUBLIC 2ND OFFENSE $580.00
58-14 URINATING OR DEFECATING IN PUBLIC 3RD OFFENSE $780.00
58-16-3 POSSESSION OF DRUG PARAPHERNALIA --LOCAL $530.00
58-16-4 SALE OF DRUG PARAPHERNALIA--LOCAL ORDINA $530.00
58-2 POSTING OF ADVERTISEMENTS - LOCAL ORDINANCE $300.00
58-2 POSTING OF ADVERTISEMENTS - LOCAL ORDINANCE $300.00
58-3 DISCHARGE OF FIREARMS - LOCAL ORDINANCE $745.00
58-4 OPEN CONTAINER - LOCAL ORD $455.00
58-4D DISORDERLY CONDUCT 1ST OFFENSE $745.00
58-4DU DUTY TO MOVE WHEN REQUESTED TO DO SO $745.00
58-4E EXCESSIVE VOLUME FROM RADIO $162.00
58-4L LOITERING $745.00
58-4R NOISE ORDINANCE-RESIDENCE $162.00
58-5 ALCOHOL ON RECREATION DEPT. PROPERTY $466.00
604 58-6 LOITERING 1ST OFFENSE $380.00
604 58-6 LOITERING 2ND OFFENSE $580.00
604 58-6 LOITERING 3RD OFFENSE $780.00
58-6-1 LOITERING/PROWLING $380.00
58-6-3 LOITERING--PROPRIETORS 1ST OFFENSE $244.45
58-6-3 LOITERING--PROPRIETORS 2ND OFFENSE $392.59
58-6-3 LOITERING--PROPRIETORS 3RD OFFENSE $544.00
58-6-4 LOITERING--IN POSTED AREAS 1ST OFFENSE $244.45
58-6-4 LOITERING--IN POSTED AREAS 2ND OFFENSE $392.59
58-6-4 LOITERING--IN POSTED AREAS 3RD OFFENSE $544.00
58-6-5 LOITERING IN ABANDONED, VACANT, UNINHABI $380.00
58-6-6 LOITERING IN ABANDONED OR VACANT LOT OR $380.00
58-6-7 LOITERING FOR PURPOSE OF PROCURING OTHER $380.00
58-6-8 LOITERING FOR PURPOSE OF ENGAGING IN DRU $380.00
6-10(a) ALL ON-PREMISES CONSUMPTION SHALL REQUIR 1ST OFF. $455.00
6-10(a) ALL ON-PREMISES CONSUMPTION SHALL REQUIR 2ND OFF. $455.00
6-10(b) CERTIFICATION SHALL BE READILY AVAILABLE 1ST OFFENSE $455.00
6-10(b) CERTIFICATION SHALL BE READILY AVAILABLE 2ND OFFENSE $455.00
6-10(c) ALL BOUNCERS TO HAVE A.B.S. PERMIT 1ST OFFENSE $455.00
6-10(c) ALL BOUNCERS TO HAVE A.B.S. PERMIT 2ND OFFENSE $455.00
6-14(a) ORDER REQUIRED WITHIN ESTABLISHMENT 1ST OFFENSE $455.00
6-14(a) ORDER REQUIRED WITHIN ESTABLISHMENT 2ND OFFENSE $455.00
6-14(b) ORDER REQUIRED OUTSIDE ESTABLISHMENT 1ST OFFENSE $455.00
6-14(b) ORDER REQUIRED OUTSIDE ESTABLISHMENT 2ND OFFENSE $455.00
6-14(c) DISORDERLY CONDUCT WHILE INTOXICATED 1ST OFFENSE $455.00
6-14(c) DISORDERLY CONDUCT WHILE INTOXICATED  2ND OFFENSE $455.00
6-16 ALCOHOL PROMOTIONS; PRICING OF ALCOHOLIC 1ST OFF. $455.00
6-16 ALCOHOL PROMOTIONS; PRICING OF ALCOHOLIC  2ND OFF. $1,006.25
6-17 OPEN CONTAINERS; SALES AND SERVICE IN PUBLIC $455.00
6-17 OPEN CONTAINERS; SALES AND SERVICE IN PUBLIC $1,006.25
6-17(a) OPEN CONTAINER 1ST OFFENSE 455.00
6-18 FURNISHING ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES IN VIOLATION 1ST OFF. $455.00
6-18 FURNISHING ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES IN VIOLATION 2ND OFF. $1,006.25
6-4 LICENSE AND PERMITS - REQUIRED; CLASSES 1ST OFFENSE $455.00
6-4 LICENSE AND PERMITS - REQUIRED; CLASSES 2ND OFFENSE $1,006.25
6-7(O) SALES PROHIBITED, LIMITED ON CERTAIN DAY SALES PROHIBITED, LIMITED ON 455.00
6-7(k) FAILURE TO PRODUCE FINANCIAL AUDIT $455.00
6-9 MINORS AND PERSONS UNDER 21 YEARS OF AGE $300.00
6-9(b) UNDER 21 NOT ALLOWED IN BARS $300.00
66-139 LITTERING - LOCAL ORDINANCE $185.00
70-1 OBSTRUCTION STREETS OR SIDEWALKS $162.00
70-3 DISPLAY OF MERCHANDISE FOR SALE W/O PERM $162.00
70-4 SOLICITING FUNDS ON STREET $162.00
70-63D PICKETING $325.00
70-64 DUTY TO MOVE WHEN REQUESTED TO DO SO $745.00



50 East Main Street 
Statesboro, GA 30458 

www.statesboroga.gov 



CITY OF STATESBORO

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor
Charles Penny, City Manager

Leah Harden, City Clerk
 Cain Smith, City Attorney

COUNCIL
Phillip A. Boyum
Paulette Chavers
Venus Mack
John C. Riggs
Shari Barr

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence 
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net

To: Charles Penny, City Manager and Leah Harden, City Clerk

From: Cain Smith, City Attorney

Date: October 30, 2023

RE: November 7, 2023 City Council Agenda Items

Policy Issue: Consideration of amended MOU with Action Pact Inc to administer 
disbursement of utility assistance aid.  

Recommendation: Approve

Background: City entered into MOU with Action Pact in 2020. This amendment would 
increase amount available to each recipient from $175 to $250 and remove the 
requirement to show employment has been affected by COVID

Budget Impact: None

Council Person and District: All

Attachments: Proposed redlined amended versions of Section 6-5(o) and 6-7(e)



 

AMENDED GRANT ADMINISTRATION 
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING (MOU) 

 
Between 

 
CITY OF STATESBORO 

 
and 

 
ACTION PACT, INC 

 
 
This is an agreement between the City of Statesboro hereinafter called City and Action Pact, Inc 
hereinafter called Administrator. 

 
I.  PURPOSE & SCOPE 

The purpose of this MOU is to clearly identify the roles and responsibilities of each party as 
they relate to the administration and disbursements of utilities assistance made available by 
City funding.   
Both Parties shall ensure that program activities are conducted in compliance with all 
applicable state and federal laws, rules, and regulations. 
 

 
II.  BACKGROUND 
 

In order to aid and assist City residents and small businesses the City desires to fund aid 
programs to be administered by third party administrators having the requisite experience and 
expertise to evaluate aid applications and distribute the City funded aid to small businesses and 
residents in need.  

 
III. CITY RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER THIS MOU 
 

City shall provide sixty two thousand dollars ($62,000.00) to Administrator to fund a utilities 
assistance program. City shall pay Administrator an administrative fee equal to 10% of the amount of 
funding provided under the aid program. This administrative fee shall be paid separately by the City in 
order to preserve the totality of the $62,000 being available to the citizens of Statesboro.  City shall 
also aid Administrator in publicizing the aid availability through social media and City website. 
Administrator shall invoice the City by the 10th of each month for the amount paid out in direct 
benefits plus the 10% administrative fee. 

 
IV. ADMINISTRATOR RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER THIS MOU 

Administrator shall execute any and all such duties relating to aid administration including but 
not limited to provision of application forms, evaluation of applications, and disbursement of 
financial awards to qualified applicants under the following criteria and conditions:: 
 
1. The maximum amount of the grant is $250 and shall be available for water, sewer, natural 
gas, and electricity, with priority given to water, sewer, and natural gas accounts; 



 

2.  Funds will be paid directly to the utilities provider;  
3. Recipient must be City resident or have City utilities account; and 
4. Administrator should attempt to be as flexible as possible to assist citizens to be eligible for 
the funds. 
 

V.  IT IS MUTUALLY UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED BY AND 
BETWEEN THE PARTIES THAT: 
 
This MOU shall only be amended by mutual consent. Term shall be until the funding provided 

for in Section III is exhausted. Either party shall have right to cancel upon 30 days’ written notice to 
other Party. 

 
VII.  RECORD REVIEW AND RETENTION 

 
City shall have right to review all records pertaining to the administration of the program held 
by Administrator. 
All records must be retained for three years from fiscal closure. This requirement applies to 
fiscal records, reports and applicant information.  
 

VIII.  EFFECTIVE DATE AND SIGNATURE 
 

This MOU shall be effective upon the signature of Parties’ authorized officials.  
 
So Agreed this__ day of November, 2023 
 
 
 
City of Statesboro     Action Pact, Inc 
 
 
_______________________         ________________________ 

             Jonathan McCollar, Mayor      Executive Director       
 
 



CITY OF STATESBORO

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum 
Paulette Chavers 
Venus Mack 
John Riggs 
Shari Barr 

Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

To: Charles Penny, City Manager 
Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 

From:   Darren Prather, Director – Central Services 

Date:  October 31, 2023 

RE: Recommendation of Contract Extension 
General Liability/Workers Comp and Health Insurance 

Policy Issue: Purchasing 

Recommendation: 
Staff recommends the extension of our insurance carriers and brokerage firms for the period of one 
additional year commencing on January 1, 2024 and ending on December 31, 2024. The carriers and 
brokerage firms are as follows: 

Carrier Broker Ins. Type Current Premium 2024 Premium 
Travelers Assured Part. General Liability $894,672/Y $1,074,085/Y 
Bitco Assured Part. Workers Comp. $439,452/Y $483,397/Y 
BCS Assured Part. Cyber $24,551/Y $27,006/Y 
Global Assured Part. Drone $1,670/Y $1,680/Y 
VFIS Assured Part. Fire Equip./Buildings $94,251/Y $98,091/Y 
Anthem  NFP Health $5,520,596/Y $5,522,145/Y 

Background:   
Originally, our insurance renewals were brought to Council to approve an extension to provide all of our 
insurance programs to end at the same time to provide an opportunity to bid them all as one complete 
package. This time frame will end on December 31, 2023. Due to our newly established employee 
medical clinic and our new provider (Everside), it is desired to continue our relationship with NFP and 
Anthem for one additional year to end December 31, 2024 to establish consistency and to operate with 
known processes as our new, on campus, clinic grows. At this point next year, it is felt the City will have 
plenty of historical data to successfully bid out our broker and health insurance services and that time. 
As to our general liability, workers compensation, cyber security and drone coverage, it is desired to 
extend these coverage for one additional year to coincide with our health insurance coverage. Again, 
this will allow the City to bid out all our policies at one time thus, providing the opportunity to gain a 
volume discount in the insurance market. In addition to this benefit, our current general liability and 
related insurance programs were set months ago to end for a short five (5) month period to end 
December 31 2024. By extending this policy for an additional year to coincide with our health insurance  



Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence  
Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • www.statesboroga.gov 

 

coverage, we will benefit from avoiding the current vast increases in property/vehicle insurance factors. 
By extending our current coverages, we can avoid these increases by putting them off for an addition year 
in hope the market settles down. Renewal in this area would expose us to open market prices at this time. 
This decision to extend our current insurance programs in all areas was discussed by all involved 
departments of the City with unanimous agreement. Amounts may change throughout the year due to 
added employees and or vehicles and Equipment. It is our recommendation to extend all these insurance 
brokerage and carrier services for one year to end December 31 2024. If approved, we will begin the 
bidding process in the fall of 2024. 



 
 

 
Georgia Municipal Association City of Excellence • Certified City of Ethics 

Telephone:  (912) 764-5468 • Fax: (912) 764-4691 • email: cityhall@statesboroga.net 

CITY  OF  STATESBORO 

 

50 EAST MAIN STREET • P.O. BOX 348 
STATESBORO, GEORGIA 30459-0348 

Jonathan McCollar, Mayor 
Charles Penny, City Manager 

                         Leah Harden, City Clerk 
I. Cain Smith, City Attorney 

COUNCIL 
Phil Boyum, District 1 
Paulette Chavers, District 2 
Venus Mack, District 3 
John Riggs, District 4 
Shari Barr, District 5 

 
  
   
 
  
 
 
 
To:   Charles Penny, City Manager 
  Jason Boyles, Assistant City Manager 
 
From:  John Washington, Director - Public Works & Engineering 
 
Date:  October 30, 2023 
 
RE:  Contract Award – CIP SWC-8-R Side Arm, CNG Refuse Truck 
 
Policy Issue:  Purchasing 
 
Recommendation:  
Staff recommends and requests award of contract to Solid Waste Applied Technology (SWAT) for the 
purchase of a New Way Automated Residential Side Arm (ASL) Refuse Collection body with a 2024/2025 
Peterbilt 520 CNG Cab and Chassis per Sourcewell (formally NJPA) contract to SWAT in the amount of 
$449,000.00. This item will be purchased with FY2024 Solid Waste Collection revenue funds.  
 
Background:  
The Solid Waste Collection Division is in the process of replace all refuse trucks with new models to 
improve services provided. Age and the normal wear on these trucks is causing them to become 
ineffective within 8 to 10 years due to repair and increasing maintenance down time. As part of this 
strategy, the division requests City Council approve the purchase for CNG side arm for the amount of 
$449,000.00. SWAT requires a P.O. to be issued from the purchaser to secure a “slot” for the truck to be 
manufactured. This truck has an estimated delivery date of 1-2 years; however, the division needs a 
truck sooner but if a slot is not obtained, then delays are expected. 
 
The Automated Side Arm (CNG) Refuse Collection Truck is to be funded in the amount of $449,000.00 in 
the FY2024 budget and is listed under CIP# SWC-8-R. This truck will be outfitted with other safety 
equipment and decals with available funds budgeted; however, the equipment is in excess of the funds 
budgeted. This is due to current economic conditions across the United States, with suppliers 
experiencing supply chain shortages, as well as price increases. The balance will come from fund balance 
in solid waste collection fund, which has reserve funds to cover this expense. 
 
The Sourcewell Contract # 091219-NWY, meets all requirements, specifications and warranty needed. 
This machine is on a 5/10 year rotation (front line/backup machine) to minimize the downtime and 
maintain operational efficiency due to the continuous work load of the commercial division.  
 
Budget Impact: Funding from Operating Income. A reduction in maintenance costs 
 
Council Person and District: 
N/A (citywide) 



kiara_martin
Highlight



kiara_martin
Highlight


	11-07-2023 Council Agenda
	10-17-2023 Work Session Minutes
	10-17-2023 Council Minutes
	SPD surplus of firearms
	Loretta's Way memo
	C Store issues memo
	C Store revisions 6-5
	Sewer Later Draft Ordinance
	Residential Garbage Collection
	Ordinance Amendment- Chapter 66 Solid Waste
	El Maguey II Memo-App-Approvals
	El Maguey Memo
	Blue Mile Catering Memo 2 (1)

	EL MAGUEY LLC ALC APP_Redacted
	doc00192420231031132643
	El Maguey II approvals

	Agenda Memo FY2024 Schedule of Rates, Fees and Fines Amendment 2
	Statesboro Rates and Fees Resolution Amendment 2 (1)
	FY24 SRFF 10-31-23
	FY2024 COVER BUDGET - Rates, Fees and Fines FINAL LMC
	FY24 TOC Final Copy
	SRFF FY24 Final Second Amend 10-31-23 without TOC.pdf
	FINES AND FEES - ADOPTED FY24

	FY 2024 FINES LIST - FINAL
	SMC Fines FY24

	FY 2024 BACK COVER - FINAL

	Insurance ext
	2024 Ins Ext Rec Final 2
	Page 2

	CC Memo_SWC-8-R_Side Arm Loader draft_10-30-23
	Side Arm Bid 2023 (1)



